legislative history indicating that Congress intended to apply § 3283 to a wide range of crimes against children. See Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 60; Schneider, 801 F.3d at 196.

The purposes underlying the categorical approach do not apply here either. For statutes dealing with prior convictions, "[t]he categorical approach serves 'practical' purposes: It promotes judicial and administrative efficiency by precluding the relitigation of past convictions in minitrials conducted long after the fact." Moncrieffe v. Holder, 569 U.S. 184, 200-01 (2013). In the context of § 3283, there is no prior conviction to assess, and the jury will determine in the first instance whether "the defendant engaged in the applicable abusive conduct." Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 60. Maxwell nonetheless contends that using a case-specific approach for § 3283 would be impractical because the Government would need to prove conduct beyond the elements of the offense. It may be true that this approach requires the Government to prove some additional facts, but any statute-of-limitations defense presents factual issues (including, at least, when the alleged conduct took place). This is not a serious practical problem and does not justify setting aside the statute's language and apparent purpose.

Maxwell relies primarily on *Bridges v. United States*, 346 U.S. 209 (1953), to urge this Court to cast *Weingarten* aside. The Supreme Court in *Bridges* addressed a statute that extended the limitations period for defrauding the United States during the Second World War. In that case, the Supreme Court first concluded that making false statements at an immigration hearing was not subject to the extended limitations period because it lacked any pecuniary element as required by the statute. *Id.* at 221. Then, as

an alternative basis for its holding, it explained that the offense did not require fraud as an "essential ingredient." *Id.* at 222. It reached that conclusion in large part because the statute's legislative history made clear that Congress intended it to apply only to a narrow class of war frauds causing pecuniary loss. *Id.* at 216.

As the Second Circuit explained in Weingarten, Congress had the opposite intent in the enacting in the PROTECT Act. Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 59 & n. 10. "In passing recent statutes related to child sex abuse, including extensions of the § 3283 limitations period, Congress 'evinced a general intention to "cast a wide net to ensnare as many offenses against children as possible."" Id. at 60 (quoting Schneider, 801 F.3d at 196 (quoting United States v. Dodge, 597 F.3d 1347, 1355 (11th Cir. 2010) (en banc))). The primary basis for Bridges' holding— legislative history supporting a narrow interpretation—does not exist here. Instead, both the statute's plan meaning and its legislative history suggest it should apply more broadly.

Based on the statute's text, context, and history, the Court follows *Weingarten* and concludes that the appropriate inquiry is whether the charged offenses involved the sexual abuse of a minor on the facts alleged in this case. There is no question that they did. The Court thus concludes that § 3283 governs the limitations period for the charges here.

2. The 2003 amendment to the statute of limitations applies to these offenses

Maxwell next contends that because the charged conduct took place before the PROTECT Act's enactment, that statute did not lengthen the statute of limitations applicable to her alleged offenses. Here too, the Second Circuit has provided guidance in its decision in Weingarten. Although the court did not provide a definitive answer there, it explained that the view Maxwell now takes conflicts with established principles of retroactivity and the decisions of at least two other circuit courts. Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 58 & n.8; see Cruz v. Maypa, 773 F.3d 138, 145 (4th Cir. 2014); United States v. Leo Sure Chief, 438 F.3d 920, 924 (9th Cir. 2006).

The Supreme Court has set out a two-step framework to determine whether a federal statute applies to past conduct. See Landgraf v. USI Film Products, 511 U.S. 244, 280 (1994). Courts look first to the language of the statute. If the statute states that it applies to past conduct, courts must so apply it. Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 54. Otherwise, the statute applies to past conduct unless doing so would create impermissible retroactive effects. Id.

The Court begins with Landgraf's first step. To assess a statute's meaning here, courts must consider the text of the statute along with other indicia of congressional intent, including the statute's history and structure. See Enter. Mortg. Acceptance Co., LLC, Sec. Litig. v. Enter. Mortg. Acceptance Co., 391 F.3d 401, 406 (2d Cir. 2004).

Section 3283, as amended by the PROTECT Act, broadly states that "[n]o statute of limitations that would otherwise preclude prosecution for an offense involving the sexual or physical abuse, or kidnaping, of a child under the age of 18 years shall preclude such prosecution during the life of the child." The statute lacks an express retroactivity clause, but courts have held that no such clause is necessary, including for this particular statute. See Leo Sure Chief, 438 F.3d at 923. The statute's plain language unambiguously requires

that it apply to prosecutions for offenses committed before the date of enactment. Instead of simply providing a new limitations period for future conduct, Congress stated that *no* statute of limitations that would otherwise preclude prosecution of these offenses will apply. That is, it prevents the application of any statute of limitations that would otherwise apply to past conduct.

Courts have reached the same conclusion for other statutes employing similar language. The Eighth Circuit has held that the 1994 amendments to § 3283, which allowed prosecution of sex crimes against children until the victim reached age twenty-five, applied to past conduct. See United States v. Jeffries, 405 F.3d 682, 684–85 (8th Cir. 2005). The Second Circuit has observed that the Higher Education Technical Amendments of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-26, 105 Stat. 123, illustrates language that requires a statute's application to past conduct. See Enter. Mortg. Acceptance Co., LLC, Sec. Litig., 391 F.3d at 407. That statute eliminated the statute of limitations for claims on defaulted student loans by stating that "no limitation shall terminate the period within which suit may be filed." Id. The PROTECT Act's language is quite similar.

The history of § 3283 confirms Congress's intent to apply the extended limitations period as broadly as the Constitution allows. With each successive amendment to the statute, Congress further extended the limitations period, recognizing that sex crimes against children "may be difficult to detect quickly" because children often delay or decline to report sexual abuse. Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 54. Congress enacted the limitations provision of the PROTECT Act because it found the prior statute of limitations was "inadequate"

in many cases." H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 108-63, at 54 (2003). For example, a person who abducted and raped a child could not be prosecuted beyond this extended limit—even if DNA matching conclusively identified him as the perpetrator one day after the victim turned 25." *Id*.

Maxwell makes no argument based on the statute's text. Instead, she contends that because the House version of the bill included an express retroactivity provision absent from its final form, the Court should infer that Congress did not intend the statute to apply to past conduct. However, the legislative history makes clear that Congress abandoned the retroactivity provision in the House bill only because it would have produced unconstitutional results. The Supreme Court has explained that a law that revives a time-barred prosecution violates the Ex Post Facto Clause of the Constitution, but a law that extends an un-expired statute of limitations does not. Stogner v. California, 539 U.S. 607, 632–33 (2003). Senator Leahy, who cosponsored the PROTECT Act, expressed concerns in a committee report that the proposed retroactivity provision was "of doubtful constitutionality" because it "would have revived the government's authority to prosecute crimes that were previously time-barred." 149 Cong. Rec. S5137, S5147 (Apr. 10, 2003) (statement of Sen. Leahy). Congress removed the provision shortly thereafter for this reason. The removal of the express retroactivity provision shows only that Congress intended to limit the PROTECT Act to its constitutional applications, including past conduct—like Maxwell's—on which the statute of limitations had not yet expired.

Both the text and history of the PROTECT Act's amendment to § 3283 reflect that it applies Maxwell's

conduct charged in the S1 superseding indictment. The Court could stop here. However, it also concludes that even if the statute were ambiguous, it would properly apply to these charges.

At *Lanfgraf's* second step, the Court asks whether application of the statute to past conduct would have impermissible retroactive effects. "[A] statute has presumptively impermissible retroactive effects when it 'takes away or impairs vested rights acquired under existing laws, or creates a new obligation, imposes a new duty, or attaches a new disability, in respect to transactions or considerations already past." Weingarten, 865 F.3d at 56 (quoting *Landgraf*, 511 U.S. at 290). Thus, applying a new statute of limitations to previously time-barred claims has an impermissible retroactive effect. Enter. Mortg. Acceptance Co., LLC, Sec. Litig., 391 F.3d at 407. Applying it to conduct for which the statute of limitations has not yet expired does not. Vernon v. Cassadaga Valley Cent. Sch. Dist., 49 F.3d 886, 890 (2d Cir. 1995).

Maxwell concedes that these offenses were within the statute of limitations when Congress enacted the PROTECT Act. Thus, the Act did not deprive her of any vested rights. Maxwell contends that it is unfair to allow the Government to prosecute her now for conduct that occurred more than twenty years ago, but there is no dispute that Congress has the power to set a lengthy limitations period or no limitations period at all. It has done so here, judging that the difficulty of prosecuting these offenses and the harm they work on children outweighs a defendant's interest in repose. Maxwell's fairness argument is a gripe with Congress's policy judgment, not an impermissibly retroactive application of the statute. The Court concludes that § 3283 allows her prosecution now.

B. The Government's delay in bringing charges did not violate due process

"As the Supreme Court stated in *United States v. Marion*, the statute of limitations is 'the primary guarantee against bringing overly stale criminal charges." United States v. Cornielle, 171 F.3d 748, 751 (2d Cir. 1999) (cleaned up) (quoting *United States v.* Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 322 (1971)). There is a strong presumption that an indictment filed within the statute of limitations is valid. To prevail on a claim that pre-indictment delay violates due process, a defendant must show both that the Government intentionally delayed bringing charges for an improper purpose and that the delay seriously damaged the defendant's ability defend against the charges. See id. This is a stringent standard. "Thus, while the [Supreme] Court may not have shut the door firmly on a contention that at some point the Due Process Clause forecloses prosecution of a claim because it is too old, at most the door is barely ajar." DeMichele v. Greenburgh Cent. Sch. Dist. No. 7, 167 F.3d 784, 790-91 (2d Cir. 1999).

The Court sees no evidence that the Government's delay in bringing these charges was designed to thwart Maxwell's ability to prepare a defense. However, it is enough to say that Maxwell does not make the strong showing of prejudice required to support this sort of claim. Maxwell contends that the Government's delay in bringing charges has prejudiced her interests because potential witnesses have died, others have forgotten, and records have been lost or destroyed. It is highly speculative that any of these factors would make a substantial difference in her case.

Maxwell first points to several potential witnesses who have passed away. These include Jeffrey Epstein

and his mother, one individual Maxwell believes worked with one of the alleged victims in this case, and a police detective who investigated Epstein in Florida. She contends they all would have provided exculpatory testimony were they alive today. Courts have generally found that vague assertions that a deceased witness might have provided favorable testimony do not justify dismissing an indictment for delay. See, e.g., United States v. Scala, 388 F. Supp. 2d 396, 399–400 (S.D.N.Y. 2005). The Court agrees with this approach. Maxwell provides no indication of what many of these potential witnesses might have testified to. The testimony she suggests the detective might have offered—that witnesses in the Palm Beach investigation did not identify Maxwell by name—is propensity evidence that does nothing to establish her innocence of the charged offenses. There are also serious doubts under all of the relevant circumstances that a jury would have found testimony from Epstein credible even if he had waived his right against self-incrimination and testified on her behalf. See United States v. Spears, 159 F.3d 1081, 1085 (7th Cir. 1999).

Maxwell's arguments that the indictment should be dismissed because of the possibility of missing witnesses, failing memories, or lost records fail for similar reasons. These are difficulties that arise in any case where there is extended delay in bringing a prosecution, and they do not justify dismissing an indictment. *United States v. Marion*, 404 U.S. 307, 325–26 (1971); see *United States v. Elsbery*, 602 F.2d 1054, 1059 (2d Cir. 1979).

Finally, the Court finds no substantial prejudice from the pretrial publicity this case has garnered. Maxwell contends that lengthy public interest in this case has transformed her reputation from that of Epstein's friend to a co-conspirator. And she also

alleges—without evidence—that her accusers fabricated their stories based on media allegations. The Court will not dismiss the indictment on Maxwell's bare assertion that numerous witnesses are engaged in a perjurious conspiracy against her. And the Court will take all appropriate steps to ensure that the pretrial publicity in this case does not compromise Maxwell's right to a fair and impartial jury.

The Court thus concludes that Maxwell has failed to establish actual prejudice from the Government's delay in bringing charges. She may renew her motion if the factual record at trial shows otherwise. On the present record, neither the applicable statute of limitations nor due process bars the charges here.

III. The indictment describes the charged offenses with specificity

Maxwell seeks to dismiss the Mann Act counts for lack of specificity or in the alternative to compel the Government to submit a bill of particulars providing greater detail of the charges. The Court concludes that the charges in the S1 superseding indictment are clear enough.

Under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 7, an indictment must contain "a plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." The indictment must be specific enough to inform the defendant of the charges and allow the defendant to plead double jeopardy in a later prosecution based on the same events. *United States v. Stavroulakis*, 952 F.2d 686, 693 (2d Cir. 1992). "Under this test, an indictment need do little more than to track the language of the statute charged and state the time and place (in approximate terms) of the alleged crime." *United States. v. Tramunti*, 513 F.2d 1087, 1113

(2d Cir. 1975). In addition to dismissal, "Rule 7(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure permits a defendant to seek a bill of particulars in order to identify with sufficient particularity the nature of the charge pending against him, thereby enabling defendant to prepare for trial, to prevent surprise, and to interpose a plea of double jeopardy should he be prosecuted a second time for the same offense." *United States v. Bortnovsky*, 820 F.2d 572, 574 (2d Cir. 1987).

The S1 superseding indictment sets out the elements of each charged crime and the facts supporting each element. Nonetheless, Maxwell contends that the indictment is too vague because it refers to open-ended time periods, describes conduct like "grooming" and "befriending" that is not inherently criminal, and does not identify the alleged victims by name.

Maxwell's first argument fails because Government need only describe the time and place of charged conduct "in approximate terms." Tramunti, 513 F.2d at 1113. The details are subject to proof at trial. "[T]he Second Circuit routinely upholds the 'on or about' language used to describe the window of when a violation occurred." United States v. Kidd, 386 F. Supp. 3d 364, 369 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (quoting *United* States v. Nersesian, 824 F.2d 1294, 1323 (2d Cir. 1987)). "This is especially true in cases of sexual abuse of children: allegations of sexual abuse of underage victims often proceed without specific dates of the offenses." United States v. Young, No. 08-cr-285 (KMK), 2008 WL 4178190, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 4, 2008) (collecting cases). As here, these cases frequently involve alleged abuse spanning a lengthy period of time, and witnesses who were victimized as children may struggle to recall the precise dates when abuse

occurred. The indictment adequately describes the time and place of the charged conduct.

Maxwell next contends that allegations of noncriminal conduct render the charges impermissibly vague. The Court disagrees. Rule 7 requires only that the language of the indictment track the language of the statute and provide a rough account of the time and place of the crime. *Tramunti*, 513 F.2d at 1113. The language of the S1 superseding indictment does so. The Government's decision to provide more details than those strictly required does not hamper Maxwell's ability to prepare a defense. Maxwell's argument that some of the conduct alleged is not inherently criminal goes to the merits of the Government's case, not the specificity of the charges.

Finally, Maxwell argues that the indictment is vague because the government does not provide the names of the alleged victims. The Court sees no basis to require that the alleged victims' names be included the indictment. The names of victims, even if important, generally need not appear there unless their omission would seriously prejudice the defendant. See United States v. Stringer, 730 F.3d 120, 127 (2d Cir. 2013); United States v. Kidd, 386 F. Supp. 3d 364, 369 (S.D.N.Y. 2019). Maxwell likely knows the identity of the alleged victims described in the indictment at this point because the Government has provided extensive discovery on them. Moreover, the Government has agreed to disclose their names in advance of trial. There is thus no unfairness here. See Stringer, 730 F.3d at 126. As discussed below, the Court will require the parties to negotiate and propose a full schedule for all remaining pretrial disclosures.

IV. The perjury charges are legally tenable

The Court turns next to Maxwell's motion to dismiss the perjury counts stemming from her answers to questions in a deposition in a civil case. She contends that these charges are legally deficient because the questions posed were fundamentally ambiguous and the questions were not material to the subject of the deposition. The Court concludes that the charges are legally tenable and Maxwell's defenses are appropriately left to the jury.

The applicable perjury statute imposes criminal penalties on anyone who "in any proceeding before or ancillary to any court . . . knowingly makes any false material declaration." 18 U.S.C. § 1623(a). Testimony is perjurious only if it is knowingly false and is material to the proceeding in which the defendant offered it.

A. The questions posed were not too ambiguous to support a perjury charge

The requirement of knowing falsity requires that a witness believe that their testimony is false. *United States v. Lighte*, 782 F.2d 367, 372 (2d Cir. 1986). As a general matter, "[a] jury is best equipped to determine the meaning that a defendant assigns to a specific question." *Id.* Courts have acknowledged a narrow exception for questions that are so fundamentally ambiguous or imprecise that the answer to them cannot legally be false. *Id.* at 372, 375; see also United States v. Wolfson, 437 F.2d 862, 878 (2d Cir. 1970). A question is fundamentally ambiguous only if reasonable people could not agree on its meaning in context. *Lighte*, 782 F.2d at 375. The existence of some arguable ambiguity does not foreclose a perjury charge against a witness who understood the question.

At a minimum, Maxwell's motion is premature. Courts typically evaluate whether a question was fundamentally ambiguous only after the development of a full factual record at trial. See, e.g., United States v. Markiewicz, 978 F.2d 786, 808 (2d Cir. 1992). The evidence at trial may shed further light on whether the questions posed were objectively ambiguous in context or whether Maxwell subjectively understood them. In any event, the Court has closely considered each of the categories of questions that Maxwell argues are ambiguous. None of the alleged ambiguities Maxwell identifies rise to the level supporting dismissal of the charges. The context of the questions and answers, in conjunction with the Government's evidence, could lead a reasonable juror to conclude that the statements were perjurious. Truth and falsity are questions for the jury in all but the most extreme cases. The Court declines to usurp the jury's role on the limited pretrial record.

B. A reasonable juror could conclude that Maxwell's statements were material

Maxwell also argues that the perjury counts should be dismissed because none of the allegedly false statements were material to the defamation action. In a civil deposition, a statement is material if it has a natural tendency to influence the court or if a truthful answer might reasonably lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. *United States v. Gaudin*, 515 U.S. 506, 509 (1995); *United States v. Kross*, 14 F.3d 751, 753–54 (2d Cir. 1994). Like knowing falsity, materiality is an element of the offense and thus ordinarily must be "decided by the jury, not the court." *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 465 (1997). Only the most extraordinary circumstances justify departure from this general rule. *United States v. Forde*, 740 F. Supp.

2d 406, 412 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (citing *Gaudin*, 515 U.S. at 522–23).

The charged statements do not fall within this narrow exception. Maxwell contends that the questions did not relate to the sex trafficking and sexual abuse allegations at the center of the civil case, but that is not the legal standard. The Government may prevail if it proves that Maxwell's answers could have led to the discovery of other evidence or could influence the factfinder in the civil case. See Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 509; Kross, 14 F.3d at 753–54. At trial, a reasonable juror could conclude that truthful answers to the questions may have permitted the plaintiff to locate other victims or witnesses who could have corroborated the plaintiff's testimony. The factual disputes relating to materiality are at least enough to preclude pretrial resolution. In criminal cases, courts must guard against "invading the 'inviolable function of the jury' in our criminal justice system," and if the "defense raises a factual dispute that is inextricably intertwined with a defendant's potential culpability, a judge cannot resolve that dispute on a Rule 12(b) motion." United States v. Sampson, 898 F.3d 270, 281 (2d Cir. 2018).

The Court concludes that the perjury charges are legally tenable and appropriately presented to the jury.

V. The perjury charges must be severed and tried separately

Although the perjury charges are legally tenable, the Court concludes that the interests of justice require severing those counts and trying them separately. Trying the perjury counts together with the Mann Act counts would require admitting evidence of other acts likely to be unduly prejudicial. It would also risk

disqualifying Maxwell's chosen counsel based on their involvement in the earlier civil case.

Rule 14(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure allows a court to order separate trials if joining all offenses in a single trial would prejudice the defendant. A defendant seeking severance must show significant unfairness to outweigh the burden on the court of conducting multiple trials. *United States v. Walker*, 142 F.3d 103, 110 (2d Cir. 1998). The harm to the defendant must be more than "solely the adverse effect of being tried for two crimes rather than one." *United States v. Werner*, 620 F.2d 922, 929 (2d Cir. 1980). Though this standard is demanding, the Court concludes that, due to unique features of the perjury counts, Maxwell meets it here. Trying all counts together would compromise Maxwell's right to the counsel of her choice and risk an unfair trial.

Trying the perjury counts together with the Mann Act counts would risk an unfair trial on each set of counts. First, it would introduce unrelated allegations of sexual abuse, which would potentially expose the jury to evidence that might otherwise not be admissible. In particular, a joint trial would potentially expose the jury to a wider swath of information regarding civil litigation against Epstein that is remote from Maxwell's charged conduct. This presents a significant risk that the jury will cumulate the evidence of the various crimes charged and find guilt when, if considered separately, it would not do so. See United States v. Halper, 590 F.2d 422, 430 (2d Cir. 1978). Second, the evidence presented on the Mann Act counts may prejudice the jury's ability to fairly evaluate Maxwell's truthfulness in her deposition, a critical element of the perjury counts. The Court has concerns that a limiting

instruction may be inadequate to mitigate these risks given the nature of the allegations involved.

Importantly, a joint trial is also likely to require disqualification of at least one of Maxwell's attorneys from participating as an advocate on her behalf. The perjury counts likely implicate the performance and credibility of her lawyers in the civil action-two of whom represent her in this case. The New York Rules of Professional Conduct generally forbid a lawyer from representing a client in a proceeding in which the lawyer is likely also to be a witness. N.Y. R. Prof'l Conduct § 3.7(a). Maxwell's counsel in the civil action and the deposition may be important fact witnesses on the perjury counts. Even if counsel were not required to testify, trying all counts together could force Maxwell to choose between having her counsel testify on her behalf on the perjury charges and having them assist her in defending the Mann Act charges.

The Second Circuit has recognized that witness testimony offered by a party's attorney presents serious risks to the fairness of a trial. See Murray v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 583 F.3d 173, 178 (2d Cir. 2009). The lawyer might appear to vouch for their own credibility, jurors might perceive the lawyer as distorting the truth to benefit their client, and blurred lines between argument and evidence might confuse the jury. *Id.* Disqualification of counsel also implicates Maxwell's Sixth Amendment right to be represented by the counsel of her choice. See, e.g., United States v. Kincade, No. 15-cr-00071 (JAD) (GWF), 2016 WL 6154901, at *6 (D. Nev. Oct. 21, 2016). The prejudice to Maxwell is especially pronounced because the attorneys who represented her in the civil case have worked with her for years and are particularly familiar with the facts surrounding the criminal prosecution. See United

States v. Cunningham, 672 F.2d 1064, 1070–71 (2d Cir. 1982).

The Court is of course cognizant of the burden separate trials may impose on all trial participants. But much of the proof relevant to the perjury counts and the Mann Act counts does not overlap. In particular, materiality for statements made in a civil deposition is broad, and evidence on that question is unlikely to bear on the other charges here. See Kross, 14 F.3d at 753–54; *Gaudin*, 515 U.S. at 509. Although some allegations of sexual abuse are relevant to both sets of charges, many are not. At a minimum, this will expand the scope of the trial far beyond the narrower issues presented. And while the Court agrees with the Government that at least some of Maxwell's concerns are overstated, there is little question that the jury's consideration of the nature of the defamation action will require a significant investment of time and resources to provide the requisite context.

The balance of these considerations favors severance. "Motions to sever are committed to the sound discretion of the trial judge." *United States v. Casamento*, 887 F.2d 1141, 1149 (2d Cir. 1989). In its discretion, the Court concludes that trying the perjury counts separately will best ensure a fair and expeditious resolution of all charges in this case.

VI. Maxwell's motion to strike surplusage is premature

Maxwell moves to strike allegations related to one of the alleged victims from the S1 superseding indictment as surplusage. The Court declines to do so at this juncture.

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 7(d) allows a court to strike surplusage from an indictment on a defendant's motion. "Motions to strike surplusage from an indictment will be granted only where the challenged allegations are not relevant to the crime charged and are inflammatory and prejudicial." United States v. Hernandez, 85 F.3d 1023, 1030 (2d Cir. 1996) (cleaned up). Courts in this District generally delay ruling on any motion to strike until after the presentation of the Government's evidence at trial, because that evidence may affect how specific allegations relate to the overall charges. See, e.g., United States v. Nejad, No. 18-cr-224 (AJN), 2019 WL 6702361, at *18 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 6, 2019); United States v. Mostafa, 965 F. Supp. 2d 451, 467 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).

Maxwell contends that the allegations related to "Minor Victim-3" are surplusage because the indictment does not charge that Minor Victim-3 traveled in interstate commerce or was below the age of consent in England where the alleged activities took place. Thus, she argues, these allegations do not relate to the charged conspiracy and instead reflect an attempt to introduce Minor Victim-3's testimony for impermissible purposes.

The Court will not strike any language from the S1 superseding indictment at this juncture. The standard under Rule 7(d) is "exacting" and requires the defendant to demonstrate clearly that the allegations are irrelevant to the crimes charged. *United States v. Napolitano*, 552 F. Supp. 465, 480 (S.D.N.Y. 1982). The indictment does not allege that the alleged victim traveled in interstate commerce or was underage during sexual encounters with Epstein. But the Court cannot rule out that the allegations may reflect conduct undertaken in furtherance of the charged conspiracy or be relevant to prove facts such as Maxwell's state of mind. *See United States v.*

Concepcion, 983 F.2d 369, 392 (2d Cir. 1992). The Court will follow the well-worn path of others in this District and reserve the issue for trial. Maxwell may renew her motion then.

VII. Maxwell's motion to dismiss multiplicitous charges is premature

Maxwell's motion to dismiss either the first or third count of the S1 superseding indictment as multiplicitous is also premature. Maxwell contends that the Government has alleged the same conspiracy twice in the indictment. "An indictment is multiplicitous when it charges a single offense as an offense multiple times, in separate counts, when, in law and fact, only one crime has been committed." *United States v. Chacko*, 169 F.3d 140, 145 (2d Cir. 1999). "The multiplicity doctrine is based upon the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment, which assures that the court does not exceed its legislative authorization by imposing multiple punishments for the same offense." *United States v. Nakashian*, 820 F.2d 549, 552 (2d Cir. 1987) (cleaned up).

"Where there has been no prior conviction or acquittal, the Double Jeopardy Clause does not protect against simultaneous prosecutions for the same offense, so long as no more than one punishment is eventually imposed." *United States v. Josephberg*, 459 F.3d 350, 355 (2d Cir. 2006). "Since *Josephberg*, courts in this Circuit have routinely denied pre-trial motions to dismiss potentially multiplicitous counts as premature." *United States v. Medina*, No. 13-cr-272 (PGG), 2014 WL 3057917, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. July 7, 2014) (collecting cases). The Court therefore denies Maxwell's motion to dismiss multiplicitous counts without prejudice.

VIII. The parties shall negotiate all remaining disclosures

Maxwell moves to compel the Government to produce certain documents she believes it has in its possession and has failed to produce. She also seeks accelerated disclosure of the Government's witness list, Jencks Act material, *Brady* and *Giglio* material, co-conspirator statements, and Rule 404(b) material. Based on the Government's response in briefing and letters the parties have since submitted to the Court, it appears that most of these requests have been overtaken by events. Accordingly, although the Court concludes that Maxwell is not entitled to expedite this discovery based on the arguments in her motion papers, the Court will require the parties to confer on an overall schedule for all remaining pretrial disclosures.

A. The Court accepts the Government's representations that it has disclosed all *Brady* and *Giglio* Material

The Supreme Court's decisions in *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972) require the Government to disclose to defendants certain evidence that will aid their defense. *Brady* requires disclosure of exculpatory evidence. Under *Giglio*, the Government has a duty to produce "not only exculpatory material, but also information that could be used to impeach a key government witness." *United States v. Coppa*, 267 F.3d 132, 135 (2d Cir. 2001) (citing *Giglio*, 405 U.S. at 154). As a general rule, "*Brady* and its progeny do not require immediate disclosure of all exculpatory and impeachment material upon request by a defendant." *Id.* at 146. "[A]s long as a defendant possesses *Brady* evidence in time for its effective use, the government has not deprived the

defendant of due process of law simply because it did not produce the evidence sooner." *Id.* at 144.

Maxwell requests an order directing immediate disclosure of all *Brady* and *Giglio* material and also requests a few specific documents she contends the Government has failed to disclose. The Court begins with the specific requests. The requested materials include (1) records of witness interviews in connection with an ex parte declaration in support of a response to a motion to quash subpoenas; (2) an unredacted copy of two FBI reports; (3) pages from a personal diary that is in the custody of a civilian third party; and (4) copies of all subpoenas the Government has issued for Maxwell's records as part of its investigation in this case.

The Government represents that it is cognizant of its *Brady* obligations, that is has reviewed the witness interviews and one of the FBI reports, and that neither set of documents includes exculpatory information not previously disclosed. The Court has no reason to doubt the Government's representation in this case that it is aware of its Brady obligations and that it has complied and will continue to comply with them. And because the witness statements are covered by the Jencks Act, the Court cannot compel production of such statements under the terms of the statute. See 18 U.S.C. § 3500; Coppa, 267 F.3d at 145. Next, the Government represents that it has already produced an unredacted copy of the other requested FBI report, and so that request is moot. The diary pages she requests are within the control of a civilian third party, not the Government, and so the Government need not (and perhaps cannot) produce them. See United States v. Collins, 409 F. Supp. 3d 228, 239 (S.D.N.Y. 2019). Finally, Maxwell's request for copies of all subpoenas

the Government has issued is overly broad and lacks a legal basis. Maxwell is not entitled to compel production of these documents.

The Court also will not issue an order requiring the immediate disclosure of *Brady* and *Giglio* material. The Government has represented that it recognizes its obligations under Brady and that it has complied, and will continue to comply, with such obligations. The Court has no reason to doubt these representations given its expansive approach to document production thus far in this case. The Government has agreed in its recent letter to produce *Giglio* material six weeks in advance of trial. The parties shall negotiate the specific timing, but assuming a schedule along those lines is met, the Court concludes that Maxwell will be able to effectively prepare for trial. *See Coppa*, 267 F.3d at 144.

B. Jencks Act material and co-conspirator statements

Maxwell also seeks to expedite discovery of Jencks Act material and non-exculpatory statements of coconspirators that the government may offer at trial. The Jencks Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3500, "provides that no prior statement made by a government witness shall be the subject of discovery until that witness has testified on direct examination." Coppa, 267 F.3d at 145. The statute therefore prohibits a district court in most cases from ordering the pretrial disclosure of witness statements unless those statements are exculpatory. "A coconspirator who testifies on behalf of the government is a witness under the Act." In re United States, 834 F.2d 283, 286 (2d Cir. 1987). The Court therefore lacks the inherent power to expedite these disclosures. In any case, the Government has

agreed to produce all Jencks Act material at least six weeks in advance of trial.

The Court also rejects Maxwell's alternative request for a hearing to determine the admissibility of coconspirator declarations. Co-conspirator statements may often be admitted at trial on a conditional basis. If the Court determines that the Government has not met its burden to show that the conditionally admitted statements were made in furtherance of the charged conspiracy, the Court should provide a limiting instruction or, in extreme cases declare a mistrial. United States v. Tracy, 12 F.3d 1186, 1199 (2d Cir. 1993). Although conditional admissions can pose a problem, a pretrial hearing is unnecessary here because the Government has committed to producing coconspirator statements at least six weeks in advance of trial to allow Maxwell to raise any objections. Maxwell will have adequate time to object to any proffered co-conspirator testimony following the Government's Jencks Act disclosures.

C. Witness list

As a general matter, "district courts have authority to compel pretrial disclosure of the identity of government witnesses." *United States v. Cannone*, 528 F.2d 296, 300 (2d Cir. 1975). In deciding whether to order accelerated disclosure of a witness list, courts consider whether a defendant has made a specific showing that disclosure is "both material to the preparation of the defense and reasonable in light of the circumstances surrounding the case." *United States v. Bejasa*, 904 F.2d 137, 139–140 (2d Cir. 1990) (cleaned up).

Maxwell has made a particularized showing that the Government must produce a witness list reasonably in

advance of trial. The nature of the allegations in this case—decades-old allegations spanning multiple locations—present considerable challenges for the preparation of the defense. However, the Government's proposed disclosure schedule—which will afford Maxwell at least six weeks to investigate testifying witness statements—allows Maxwell significantly more time to review disclosures than schedules adopted in most cases in this District. See, e.g., United States v. Rueb, No. 00-CR-91 (RWS), 2001 WL 96177, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 5, 2001) (thirty days before trial); *United States v.* Nachamie, 91 F. Supp. 2d 565, 580 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (fourteen days before trial). In addition, on April 13, 2021, the Government produced over 20,000 pages of interview notes, reports and other materials related to non-testifying witnesses. After considering the circumstances, including the complexity of the issues in this case and what the defense has already received and likely learned in the course of discovery, the Court concludes that the Government's proposal is generally reasonable.

D. Rule 404(b) material

Maxwell's final discovery request is for early disclosure of evidence the Government seeks to offer under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b). Under Rule 404(b), if the prosecutor in a criminal case intends to use "evidence of a crime, wrong, or other act" against a defendant, the prosecutor must "provide reasonable notice of the general nature of any such evidence that the prosecutor intends to offer at trial" and must "do so in writing before trial—or in any form during trial if the court, for good cause, excuses lack of pretrial notice." The Government represents that it will notify the defense of its intent to use 404(b) evidence at least 45 days in advance of trial to allow Maxwell to file any

motions in limine to be considered at the final pretrial conference. The Government's proposal will give Maxwell an opportunity to challenge admission of that evidence and to bring to the Court's attention any issues that require resolution before trial. "This is all that Rule 404(b) requires." *United States v. Thompson*, No. 13-cr-378 (AJN), 2013 WL 6246489, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 3, 2013). The Court concludes this schedule is generally reasonable, although additional time to enable briefing and resolution in advance of trial is strongly encouraged.

The Court's denial of Maxwell's requests to compel pretrial disclosures does not preclude the parties from negotiating in good faith for an expedited discovery timeline that will account for Maxwell's specific concerns. "[I]n most criminal cases, pretrial disclosure will redound to the benefit of all parties, counsel, and the court." *United States v. Percevault*, 490 F.2d 126, 132 (2d Cir. 1974). In general, the Court will require the parties to negotiate a final, omnibus schedule to propose to the Court. The Court concludes that the disclosure of all of the above materials approximately six to eight weeks in advance of trial is appropriate and sufficient.

Given the complexities of the case and the addition of two counts via the S2 indictment, the Court encourages the parties to agree to approximately eight weeks.

IX. The S2 superseding indictment moots Maxwell's grand jury challenge

The Court has not received supplemental briefing on the motions in light of the return of the S2 superseding

indictment and so does resolve any such issues here.¹ However, Maxwell's motion seeking to dismiss the S1 superseding indictment because it was returned by a grand jury sitting at the White Plains courthouse appears moot. Maxwell argued that the use of a grand jury drawn from the White Plains Division in this District did not represent a fair cross-section of the community, because her trial would proceed in the Manhattan Division. A grand jury sitting in Manhattan returned the S2 superseding indictment. By April 21, 2021, Maxwell shall show cause why her grand jury motion should not be dismissed on that basis.

Conclusion

The Court DENIES Maxwell's motions to dismiss the indictment as barred by Epstein's non-prosecution agreement (Dkt. No. 141), to dismiss the Mann Act counts as barred by the statute of limitations (Dkt. No. 143), to dismiss the indictment for pre-indictment delay (Dkt. No. 137), to dismiss the Mann Act counts for lack of specificity (Dkt. No. 123), to dismiss the perjury counts as legally untenable (Dkt. No. 135), to strike surplusage (Dkt. No. 145), to dismiss count one or count three as multiplicitous (Dkt. No. 121), and to expedite pretrial disclosures (Dkt. No. 147). The Court GRANTS Maxwell's motion to sever the perjury counts for a separate trial (Dkt. No. 119).

The Court ORDERS the Government to confirm within one week whether it considers any evidence related to negotiation of the non-prosecution agreement to constitute *Brady* or Rule 16 material and, if so, to confirm that it has or will disclose such evidence.

¹ The parties shall negotiate and propose a schedule for any available additional or supplement rulings in light of the filing of the S2 indictment.

The Court further ORDERS the parties to negotiate a final schedule for all pretrial disclosures that remain outstanding, including: *Brady*, *Giglio*, and Jenks Act materials, including co-conspirator statements; nontestifying witness statements; testifying witness statements; the identity of victims alleged in the indictment; 404(b) material; and the Government's witness list. The Court also requires the parties to negotiate a schedule for any additional or supplemental motions briefing in light of the S2 indictment. The Court ORDERS a joint proposal to be submitted by April 21, 2021. If agreement is not reached, the parties shall submit their respective proposals.

The Court further ORDERS Maxwell to show cause by April 21, 2021 why her motion to dismiss the S1 superseding indictment under the Sixth Amendment (Dkt. No. 125) should not be denied as moot.

SO ORDERED.

Dated: April 16, 2021

New York, New York

/s/ Alison J. Nathan ALISON J. NATHAN United States District Judge

APPENDIX E

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

Docket No: 22-1426

At a stated term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, in the City of New York, on the 25th day of November, two thousand twenty-four.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee,

v.

GHISLAINE MAXWELL, AKA SEALED DEFENDANT 1,

Defendant-Appellant.

ORDER

Appellant, Ghislaine Maxwell, filed a petition for panel rehearing, or, in the alternative, for rehearing *en banc*. The panel that determined the appeal has considered the request for panel rehearing, and the active members of the Court have considered the request for rehearing *en banc*.

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the petition is denied.

FOR THE COURT:

Catherine O'Hagan Wolfe, Clerk [United States Second Circuit Court of Appeals Catherine O'Hagan Wolfe Seal]

APPENDIX F

DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

[LOGO]

EXCERPTS OF THE OFFICE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

Investigation into the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Florida's Resolution of Its 2006–2008 Federal Criminal Investigation of Jeffrey Epstein and Its Interactions with Victims during the Investigation

November 2020

NOTE: THIS REPORT CONTAINS SENSITIVE, PRIVILEGED, AND PRIVACY ACT PROTECTED INFORMATION. DO NOT DISTRIBUTE THE REPORT OR ITS CONTENTS WITHOUT THE PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE OFFICE OF PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Department of Justice (Department) Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR) investigated allegations that in 2007-2008, prosecutors in the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Florida (USAO) improperly resolved a federal investigation into the criminal conduct of Jeffrey Epstein by negotiating and executing a federal non-prosecution agreement (NPA). The NPA was intended to end a federal investigation into allegations that Epstein engaged in illegal sexual activity with girls. OPR also

¹ As used in this Report, including in quoted documents and statements, the word "girls" refers to females who were under the age of 18 at the time of the alleged conduct. Under Florida law, a minor is a person under the age of 18.

investigated whether USAO prosecutors committed professional misconduct by failing to consult with victims of Epstein's crimes before the NPA was signed or by misleading victims regarding the status of the federal investigation after the signing.

I. OVERVIEW OF FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Palm Beach (Florida) Police Department (PBPD) began investigating Jeffrey Epstein in 2005, after the parents of a 14-year-old girl complained that Epstein had paid her for a massage. Epstein was a multimillionaire financier with residences in Palm Beach, New York City, and other United States and foreign locations. The investigation led to the discovery that Epstein used personal assistants to recruit girls to provide massages to him, and in many instances, those massages led to sexual activity. After the PBPD brought the case to the State Attorney's Office, a Palm Beach County grand jury indicted Epstein, on July 19, 2006, for felony solicitation of prostitution in violation of Florida Statute § 796.07. However, because the PBPD Chief and the lead Detective were dissatisfied with the State Attorney's handling of the case and believed that the state grand jury's charge did not address the totality of Epstein's conduct, they referred the matter to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) in West Palm Beach for a possible federal investigation.

The FBI brought the matter to an Assistant U.S. Attorney (AUSA), who opened a file with her supervisor's approval and with the knowledge of then U.S. Attorney R. Alexander Acosta. She worked with two FBI case agents to develop a federal case against Epstein and, in the course of the investigation, they discovered additional victims. In May 2007, the AUSA submitted to her supervisors a draft 60-count indictment outlining

charges against Epstein. She also provided a lengthy memorandum summarizing the evidence she had assembled in support of the charges and addressing the legal issues related to the proposed charges.

For several weeks following submission of the prosecution memorandum and proposed indictment, the AUSA's supervisors reviewed the case to determine how to proceed. At a July 31, 2007 meeting with Epstein's attorneys, the USAO offered to end its investigation if Epstein pled guilty to state charges, agreed to serve a minimum of two years' incarceration, registered as a sexual offender, and agreed to a mechanism through which victims could obtain monetary damages. The USAO subsequently engaged in additional meetings and communications with Epstein's team of attorneys, ultimately negotiating the terms of a statebased resolution of the federal investigation, which culminated in the signing of the NPA on September 24, 2007. The NPA required Epstein to plead guilty in state court to the then-pending state indictment against him and to an additional criminal information charging him with a state offense that would require him to register as a sexual offender—specifically, procurement of minors to engage in prostitution, in violation of Florida Statute § 796.03. The NPA required Epstein to make a binding recommendation that the state court sentence him to serve 18 months in the county jail followed by 12 months of community control (home detention or "house arrest"). The NPA also included provisions designed to facilitate the victims' recovery of monetary damages from Epstein. In exchange, the USAO agreed to end its investigation of Epstein and to forgo federal prosecution in the Southern District of Florida of him, four named co-conspirators, and "any potential co-conspirators."

Victims were not informed of, or consulted about, a potential state resolution or the NPA prior to its signing.

The signing of the NPA did not immediately lead to Epstein's guilty plea and incarceration, however. For the next nine months, Epstein deployed his extensive team of prominent attorneys to try to change the terms that his team had negotiated and he had approved, while simultaneously seeking to invalidate the entire NPA by persuading senior Department officials that there was no federal interest at issue and the matter should be left to the discretion of state law enforcement officials. Through repeated communications with the USAO and senior Department officials, defense counsel fought the government's interpretation of the NPA's terms. They also sought and obtained review by the Department's Criminal Division and then the Office of the Deputy Attorney General, primarily on the issue of federal jurisdiction over what the defense insisted was "a quintessentially state matter." After reviewing submissions by the defense and the USAO, on June 23, 2008, the Office of the Deputy Attorney General informed defense counsel that the Deputy Attorney General would not intervene in the matter. Only then did Epstein agree to fulfill his obligation under the NPA, and on June 30, 2008, he appeared in state court and pled guilty to the pending state indictment charging felony solicitation of prostitution and, pursuant to the NPA, to a criminal information charging him with procurement of minors to engage in prostitution. Upon the joint request of the defendant and the state prosecutor, and consistent with the NPA, the court immediately sentenced Epstein to consecutive terms of 12 months' incarceration on the solicitation charge and 6 months' incarceration on the procurement charge, followed by 12 months of community control. Epstein began serving the sentence that day, in a

minimum-security Palm Beach County facility. A copy of the NPA was filed under seal with the state court.

On July 7, 2008, a victim, identified as "Jane Doe," filed in federal court in the Southern District of Florida an emergency petition alleging that the government violated the Crime Victims' Rights Act (CVRA), 18 U.S.C. § 3771, when it resolved the federal investigation of Epstein without consulting with victims, and seeking enforcement of her CVRA rights.² In responding to the petition, the government, represented by the USAO, revealed the existence of the NPA, but did not produce it to the petitioners until the court directed it to be turned over subject to a protective order; the NPA itself remained under seal in the federal district court. After the initial filings and hearings, the CVRA case was dormant for almost two years while the petitioners pursued civil cases against Epstein.

Soon after he was incarcerated, Epstein applied for the Palm Beach County Sheriff's work release program, and the Sheriff approved his application. In October 2008, Epstein began spending 12 hours a day purportedly working at the "Florida Science Foundation," an entity Epstein had recently incorporated that was co-located at the West Palm Beach office of one of Epstein's attorneys. Although the NPA specified a term of incarceration of 18 months, Epstein received "gain time," that is, time off for good behavior, and he actually served less than 13 months of incarceration. On July 22, 2009, Epstein was released from custody to a one-year term of home detention as a condition of

² Emergency Victim's Petition for Enforcement of Crime Victim's [sic] Rights Act, 18 U.S.C. Section 3771, Doe v. United States, Case No. 9:08-cv-80736-KAM (S.D. Fla. July 7, 2008). Another victim subsequently joined the litigation as "Jane Doe 2."

community control, and he registered as a sexual offender with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. After victims and news media filed suit in Florida courts for release of the copy of the NPA that had been filed under seal in the state court file, a state judge in September 2009 ordered it to be made public.

By mid-2010, Epstein reportedly settled multiple civil lawsuits brought against him by victims seeking monetary damages, including the two petitioners in the CVRA litigation. During the CVRA litigation, the petitioners sought discovery from the USAO, which made substantial document productions, filed lengthy privilege logs in support of its withholding of documents, and submitted declarations from the AUSA and the FBI case agents who conducted the federal investigation. The USAO opposed efforts to unseal various records, as did Epstein, who was permitted to intervene in the litigation with respect to certain issues. Nevertheless, the court ultimately ordered that substantial records relating to the USAO's resolution of the Epstein case be made public. During the course of the litigation, the court made numerous rulings interpreting the CVRA. After failed efforts to settle the case, the parties' cross motions for summary judgment remained pending for more than a year.

In 2017, President Donald Trump nominated Acosta to be Secretary of Labor. At his March 2017 confirmation hearing, Acosta was questioned only briefly about the Epstein case. On April 17, 2017, the Senate confirmed Acosta's appointment as Labor Secretary.

In the decade following his release from incarceration, Epstein reportedly continued to settle multiple civil suits brought by many, but not all, of his victims. Epstein was otherwise able to resume his lavish lifestyle, largely avoiding the interest of the press. On

November 28, 2018, however, the Miami Herald published an extensive investigative report about state and federal criminal investigations initiated more than 12 years earlier into allegations that Epstein had coerced girls into engaging in sexual activity with him at his Palm Beach estate.3 The Miami Herald reported that in 2007, Acosta entered into an "extraordinary" deal with Epstein in the form of the NPA, which permitted Epstein to avoid federal prosecution and a potentially lengthy prison sentence by pleading guilty in state court to "two prostitution charges." According to the *Miami Herald*, the government also immunized from prosecution Epstein's coconspirators and concealed from Epstein's victims the terms of the NPA. Through its reporting, which included interviews of eight victims and information from publicly available documents, the newspaper painted a portrait of federal and state prosecutors who had ignored serious criminal conduct by a wealthy man with powerful and politically connected friends by granting him a "deal of a lifetime" that allowed him both to escape significant punishment for his past conduct and to continue his abuse of minors. The Miami Herald report led to public outrage and media scrutiny of the government's actions.4

³ Julie K. Brown, "Perversion of Justice," *Miami Herald*, Nov. 28, 2018. https://www.miamiherald.com/news/local/article220097 825.html.

⁴ See, e.g., Ashley Collman, "Stunning new report details Trump's labor secretary's role in plea deal for billionaire sex abuser," The Business Insider, Nov. 29, 2018; Cynthia McFadden, "New Focus on Trump Labor Secretary's role in unusual plea deal for billionaire accused of sexual abuse," NBC Nightly News, Nov. 29, 2018; Anita Kumar, "Trump labor secretary out of running for attorney general after Miami Herald report," McClatchy Washington Bureau, Nov. 29, 2018; Emily Peck, "How Trump's Labor Secretary

On February 21, 2019, the district court granted the CVRA case petitioners' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, ruling that the government violated the CVRA in failing to advise the victims about its intention to enter into the NPA.5 The court also found that letters the government sent to victims after the NPA was signed, describing the investigation as ongoing, "mislead [sic] the victims to believe that federal prosecution was still a possibility." The court also highlighted the inequity of the USAO's failure to communicate with the victims while at the same time engaging in "lengthy negotiations" with Epstein's counsel and assuring the defense that the NPA would not be "made public or filed with the court." The court ordered the parties to submit additional briefs regarding the appropriate remedies. After the court's order, the Department recused the USAO from the CVRA litigation and assigned the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Georgia to handle the case for the government. Among the remedies sought by the petitioners, and opposed by the government, was rescission of the NPA and federal prosecution of Epstein.

On July 2, 2019, the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of New York obtained a federal grand jury indictment charging Epstein with one count of sex trafficking of minors and one count of conspiracy to commit sex trafficking of minors. The indictment alleged that from 2002 until 2005, Epstein

Covered For A Millionaire Sex Abuser," *Huffington Post*, Nov. 29, 2018; Julie K. Brown, et al., "Lawmakers issue call for investigation of serial sex abuser Jeffrey Epstein's plea deal," *Miami Herald*, Dec. 6, 2018.

⁵ Doe v. United States, 359 F. Supp. 3d 1201 (S.D. Fla., Feb. 21, 2019) (Opinion and Order, 9:08-80736-CIV-Marra).

created a vast network of underage victims in both New York and Florida whom he sexually abused and exploited. Epstein was arrested on the charges on July 6, 2019. In arguing for Epstein's pretrial detention, prosecutors asserted that agents searching Epstein's Manhattan residence found thousands of photos of nude and half-nude females, including at least one believed to be a minor. The court ordered Epstein detained pending trial, and he was remanded to the custody of the Bureau of Prisons and held at the Metropolitan Correctional Center in Manhattan.

Meanwhile, after publication of the November 2018 Miami Herald report, the media and Congress increasingly focused attention on Acosta as the government official responsible for the NPA. On July 10, 2019, Acosta held a televised press conference to defend his and the USAO's actions. Acosta stated that the Palm Beach State Attorney's Office "was ready to allow Epstein to walk free with no jail time, nothing." According to Acosta, because USAO prosecutors considered this outcome unacceptable, his office pursued a difficult and challenging case and obtained a resolution that put Epstein in jail, forced him to register as a sexual offender, and provided victims with the means to obtain monetary damages. Acosta's press conference did not end the controversy, however, and on July 12, 2019, Acosta submitted to the President his resignation as Secretary of Labor. In a brief oral statement, Acosta explained that continued media attention on his handling of the Epstein investigation rather than on the economy was unfair to the Labor Department.

On August 10, 2019, Epstein was found hanging in his cell and was later pronounced dead. The New York

City Chief Medical Examiner concluded that Epstein had committed suicide.

As a result of Epstein's death, the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of New York filed a nolle prosequi to dismiss the pending indictment against Epstein. On August 27, 2019, the district court held a hearing at which more than a dozen of Epstein's victims—including victims of the conduct in Florida that was addressed through the NPA—spoke about the impact of Epstein's crimes. The court dismissed the Epstein indictment on August 29, 2019.

After Epstein's death, the federal district court in Florida overseeing the CVRA litigation denied the petitioners their requested remedies and closed the case as moot. Among its findings, the court concluded that although the government had violated the CVRA, the government had asserted "legitimate and legally supportable positions throughout this litigation," and therefore had not litigated in bad faith. The court also noted it expected the government to "honor its representation that it will provide training to its employees about the CVRA and the proper treatment of crime victims," as well as honoring its promise to meet with the victims.

On September 30, 2019, CVRA petitioner "Jane Doe 1" filed in her true name a petition for a writ of mandamus in the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, seeking review of the district court's order denying all of her requested remedies. In its responsive brief, the government argued that "as a matter of law, the legal obligations under the CVRA do not attach prior to the government charging a case" and thus, "the CVRA was not triggered in [the Southern District of Florida] because no criminal charges were brought." Nevertheless, during oral

argument, the government conceded that the USAO had not been "fully transparent" with the petitioner and had "made a mistake in causing her to believe that the case was ongoing when in fact the NPA had been signed." On April 14, 2020, a divided panel of the Court of Appeals denied the petition, ruling that CVRA rights do not attach until a defendant has been criminally charged. On August 7, 2020, the court granted the petition for rehearing *en banc* and vacated the panel's opinion; as of the date of this Report, a briefing schedule has been issued, and oral argument is set for December 3, 2020.

II. THE INITIATION AND SCOPE OF OPR'S INVESTIGATION

After the Miami Herald published its investigative report on November 28, 2018, U.S. Senator Ben Sasse, Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Oversight, Agency Action, Federal Rights and Federal Courts, sent a December 3, 2018 letter to OPR, citing the Miami Herald's report and requesting that OPR "open an investigation into the instances identified in this reporting of possible misconduct by Department of Justice attorneys." On February 6, 2019, the Department of Justice Office of Legislative Affairs advised Senator Sasse that OPR had opened an investigation into the matter and would review the USAO's decision to resolve the federal investigation of Epstein through the NPA.

After the district court issued its ruling in the CVRA litigation, on February 21, 2019, OPR included within

⁶ The federal government was closed from December 22, 2018, to January 25, 2019. After initiating its investigation, OPR also subsequently received other letters from U.S. Senators and Representatives inquiring into the status of the OPR investigation.

the scope of its investigation an examination of the government's conduct that formed the basis for the court's findings that the USAO violated the CVRA in failing to afford victims a reasonable right to confer with the government about the NPA before the agreement was signed and that the government affirmatively misled victims about the status of the federal investigation.

During the course of its investigation, OPR obtained and reviewed hundreds of thousands of records from the USAO, the FBI, and other Department components, including the Office of the Deputy Attorney General, the Criminal Division, and the Executive Office for U.S. Attorneys. The records included emails, letters, memoranda, and investigative materials. OPR also collected and reviewed materials relating to the state investigation and prosecution of Epstein. OPR also examined extensive publicly available information, including depositions, pleadings, orders, and other court records, and reviewed media reports and interviews, articles, podcasts, and books relating to the Epstein case.

In addition to this extensive documentary review, OPR conducted more than 60 interviews of witnesses, including the FBI case agents, their supervisors, and FBI administrative personnel; current and former USAO staff and attorneys; current and former Department attorneys and senior managers, including a former Deputy Attorney General and a former Assistant Attorney General for the Criminal Division; and the former State Attorney and former Assistant State Attorney in charge of the state investigation of Epstein. OPR also interviewed several victims and attorneys representing victims, and reviewed written

submissions from victims, concerning victim contacts with the USAO and the FBI.

OPR identified former U.S. Attorney Acosta, three former USAO supervisors, and the AUSA as subjects of its investigation based on preliminary information indicating that each of them was involved in the decision to resolve the case through the NPA or in the negotiations leading to the agreement. OPR deems a current or former Department attorney to be a subject of its investigation when the individual's conduct is within the scope of OPR's review and may result in a finding of professional misconduct. OPR reviewed prior public statements made by Acosta and another subject. All five subjects cooperated fully with OPR's investigation. OPR requested that all of the subjects provide written responses detailing their involvement in the federal investigation of Epstein, the drafting and execution of the NPA, and decisions relating to victim notification and consultation. OPR received and reviewed written responses from all of the subjects, and subsequently conducted extensive interviews of each subject under oath and before a court reporter. Each subject was represented by counsel and had access to relevant contemporaneous documents before the subject's OPR interview. The subjects reviewed and provided comments on their respective interview transcripts and on OPR's draft report. OPR carefully considered the comments and made changes, or noted comments, as OPR deemed appropriate; OPR did not, however, alter its findings and conclusions.

Finally, OPR reviewed relevant case law, statutes, regulations, Department policy, and attorney professional responsibility rules as necessary to resolve the issues presented in this case and to determine whether the subjects committed professional misconduct.

As part of its investigation, OPR examined the interactions between state officials and the federal investigators and prosecutors, but because OPR does not have jurisdiction over state officials, OPR did not investigate, or reach conclusions about, their conduct regarding the state investigation. Because OPR's mission is to ensure that Department attorneys adhere to the standards of professional conduct, OPR's investigation focused on the actions of the subject attorneys rather than on determining the full scope of Epstein's and his assistants' criminal behavior. Accordingly, OPR considered the evidence and information regarding Epstein's and his assistants' conduct as it was known to the subjects at the time they performed their duties as Department attorneys. Additional evidence and information that came to light after June 30, 2008, when Epstein entered his guilty plea under the NPA, did not affect the subjects' actions prior to that date, and OPR did not evaluate the subjects' conduct on the basis of that subsequent information.

OPR's investigation occurred approximately 12 years after most of the significant events relating to the USAO's investigation of Epstein, the NPA, and Epstein's guilty plea. As a result, many of the subjects and witnesses were unable to recall the details of events or their own or others' actions occurring in 2006-2008, such as conversations, meetings, or documents

⁷ In August 2019, Florida Governor Ron DeSantis announced that he had directed the Florida Department of Law Enforcement to open an investigation into the conduct of state authorities relating to Epstein. As reported, the investigation focuses on Epstein's state plea agreement and the Palm Beach County work release program.

they reviewed at the time.⁸ However, OPR's evaluation of the subjects' conduct was aided significantly by extensive, contemporaneous emails among the prosecutors and communications between the government and defense counsel. These records often referred to the interactions among the participants and described important decisions and, in some instances, the bases for them.

III. OVERVIEW OF OPR'S ANALYTICAL FRAME-WORK

OPR's primary mission is to ensure that Department attorneys perform their duties in accordance with the highest professional standards, as would be expected of the nation's principal law enforcement agency. Accordingly, OPR investigates allegations of professional misconduct against current or former Department attorneys related to the exercise of their authority to

* * *

[69] to the assault charge" and suggesting a different factual scenario to support a federal charge. 112 At this

OPR was cognizant that Acosta and the three managers all left the USAO during, or not long after resolution of, the Epstein case, while the AUSA remained with the USAO until mid-2019. Moreover, as the line prosecutor in the Epstein investigation and also as co-counsel in the CVRA litigation until the USAO was recused from that litigation in early 2019, the AUSA had continuous access to the USAO documentary record and numerous occasions to review these materials in the course of her official duties. Additionally, in responding to OPR's request for a written response, and in preparing to be interviewed by OPR, the AUSA was able to refresh her recollection with these materials to an extent not possible for the other subjects, who were provided with relevant documents by OPR in preparation for their interviews.

¹¹² Villafaña told OPR that she sometimes used her home email account because "[n]egotiations were occurring at nights, on

point, Sloman left on vacation, and he informed Acosta and Villafaña that in his absence Lourie had agreed "to help finalize this." Lourie spent the following work week at his new post at the Department in Washington, D.C., but communicated with his USAO colleagues by phone and email.

In a Sunday, September 16, 2007 email, Villafaña informed Lefkowitz that she had drafted a factual proffer to accompany a revised "hybrid" federal plea proposal. In that email, Villafaña also noted that she was considering filing charges in the federal district court in Miami, "which will hopefully cut the press coverage significantly." This email received considerable attention 12 years later when it was made public during the CVRA litigation and was viewed as evidence of the USAO's efforts to conceal the NPA from the victims. Villafaña, however, explained to OPR that she was concerned that news media coverage would violate the victims' privacy. She told OPR, "[I]f [the victims] wanted to attend [the plea hearing], I wanted them to be able to go into the courthouse without their faces being splashed all over the newspaper," and that such publicity was less likely to happen in Miami, where the press "in general does not care about what happens in Palm Beach."

Lefkowitz responded to Villafaña with a revised version of her latest proposed "hybrid" plea agreement, in a document entitled "Agreement." Significantly, this defense proposal introduced two new provisions. The first related to four female assistants who had

weekend[s], and while I was [away from the office for personal reasons], . . . and this occurred during a time when out of office access to email was very limited." Records show her supervisors were aware that at times she used her personal email account in communicating with defense counsel in this case.

allegedly facilitated Epstein in his criminal scheme. The defense sought a government promise not to prosecute them, as well as certain other unnamed Epstein employees, and a promise to forego immigration proceedings against two of the female assistants:

Epstein's fulfilling the terms and conditions of the Agreement also precludes the initiation of any and all criminal charges which might otherwise in the future be brought against [four named female assistants] or any employee of [a specific Epstein-owned corporate entity] for any criminal charge that arises out of the ongoing federal investigation Further, no immigration proceeding will be instituted against [two named female assistants] as a result of the ongoing investigation.

The second new provision related to the USAO's efforts to obtain Epstein's computers:

Epstein's fulfilling the terms and conditions of the Agreement resolves any and all outstanding [legal process] that have requested witness testimony and/or the production of documents and/or computers in relation to the investigation that is the subject of the Agreement. Each [legal process] will be withdrawn upon the execution of the Agreement and will not be re-issued absent reliable evidence of a violation of the agreement. Epstein and his counsel agree that the computers that are currently under [legal process] will be safeguarded in their current condition by Epstein's counsel or their agents until the terms and conditions of the Agreement are fulfilled.

Later that day, Villafaña sent Lefkowitz a lengthy email to convey two options Lourie had suggested: "the original proposal" for a state plea but with an agreement for an 18-month sentence, or pleas to state charges and two federal obstruction-of-justice charges. Villafaña also told Lefkowitz she was willing to ask Acosta again to approve a federal plea to a five-year conspiracy with a Rule 11(c) binding recommendation for a 20-month sentence. Villafaña explained:

As to timing, it is my understanding that Mr. Epstein needs to be sentenced in the state after he is sentenced in the federal case, but not that he needs to plead guilty and be sentenced after serving his federal time. Andy recommended that some of the timing issues be addressed only in the state agreement, so that it isn't obvious to the judge that we are trying to create federal jurisdiction for prison purposes.

With regard to prosecution of individuals other than Epstein, Villafaña suggested standard federal plea agreement language regarding the resolution of all criminal liability, "and I will mention 'co-conspirators,' but I would prefer not to highlight for the judge all of the other crimes and all of the other persons that we could charge." Villafaña told OPR that she was willing to include a non-prosecution provision for Epstein's coconspirators, who at the time she understood to be the four women named in the proposed agreement, because the USAO was not interested in prosecuting those individuals if Epstein entered a plea. Villafaña told OPR, "[W]e considered Epstein to be the top of the food chain, and we wouldn't have been interested in prosecuting anyone else." She did not consider the possibility that Epstein might be trying to protect other, unnamed individuals, and no one, including the FBI case agents, raised that concern. Villafaña also

told OPR that her reference to "all of the other crimes and all of the other persons that we could charge" related to her concern that if the plea agreement contained information about uncharged conduct, the court might ask for more information about that conduct and inquire why it had not been charged, and if the government provided such information, Epstein's attorneys might claim the agreement was breached.¹¹³

With regard to immigration, Villafaña told OPR that the USAO generally did not take any position in plea agreements on immigration issues, and that in this case, there was no evidence that either of the two assistants who were foreign nationals had committed fraud in connection with their immigration paperwork, "and I think that they were both in status. So there wasn't any reason for them to be deported."¹¹⁴ As to whether the foreign nationals would be removable by virtue of having committed crimes, Villafaña told OPR she did not consider her role as seeking removal apart from actual prosecution.

Villafaña concluded her email to Lefkowitz by expressing disappointment that they were not "closer to resolving this than it appears that we are," and

¹¹³ OPR understood Villafaña's concern to be that if the government were required to respond to a court's inquiry into additional facts, Epstein would object that the government was trying to cast him in a negative light in order to influence the court to impose a sentence greater than the agreed-upon term.

¹¹⁴ According to the case agents, the West Palm Beach FBI office had an ICE agent working with them at the beginning of the federal investigation, and the ICE agent normally would have looked into the immigration status of any foreign national, but neither case agent recalled any immigration issue regarding any of the Epstein employees.

offering to meet the next day to work on the agreement:

Can I suggest that tomorrow we either meet live or via teleconference, either with your client or having him within a quick phone call, to hash out these items? I was hoping to work only a half day tomorrow to save my voice for Tuesday's hearing . . . , if necessary, but maybe we can set a time to meet. If you want to meet "off campus" somewhere, that is fine. I will make sure that I have all the necessary decision makers present or "on call," as well.¹¹⁵

Villafaña told OPR that she offered to meet Lefkowitz away from the USAO because conducting negotiations via email was inefficient, and Villafaña wanted "to have a meeting where we sat down and just finalized things. And what I meant by off campus is, sometimes people feel better if you go to a neutral location" for a face-to-face meeting.

On the morning of Monday, September 17, 2007, the USAO supervisor who was taking over Lourie's duties as manager of the West Palm Beach office asked Villafaña for an update on the plea negotiations, and she forwarded to him the email she had sent to Lefkowitz the previous afternoon. Villafaña told the manager, "As you can see . . . there are a number of things in their last draft that were unacceptable. All of the loopholes that I sewed up they tried to open."

Shortly thereafter, Villafaña alerted the new manager, Acosta, and Lourie that she had just spoken with

¹¹⁵ Lefkowitz was based in New York City but traveled to Miami in connection with the case.

Lefkowitz, who advised that Epstein was leaning towards a plea to state charges under a non-prosecution agreement, and she would be forwarding to Lefkowitz "our last version of the Non-Prosecution Agreement." Acosta asked that Villafaña "make sure they know it[']s only a draft" and reminded her that "[t]he form and language may need polishing." Villafaña responded, "Absolutely. There were a lot of problems with their last attempt. They tried to re-open all the loopholes that I had sewn shut." Villafaña sent to Lefkowitz the draft NPA that she had provided to Lefcourt on September 11, 2007, noting that it was the "last version" and would "avoid [him] having to reinvent the wheel." She also updated the FBI case agents on the status of negotiations, noting that she had told her "chain of command . . . that we are still on for the [September] 25th [to bring charges] . . . , no matter what."

After receiving the draft NPA, Lefkowitz asked Villafaña to provide for his review a factual proffer for a federal obstruction of justice charge, and, with respect to the NPA option, asked, "[I]f we go that route, would you intend to make the deferred [sic] prosecution agreement public?" Villafaña replied that while a federal plea agreement would be part of the court file and publicly accessible, the NPA "would not be made public or filed with the Court, but it would remain part of our case file. It probably would be subject to a FOIA [Freedom of Information Act] request, but it is not something that we would distribute without compulsory process." Villafaña told OPR that she believed Epstein did not want the NPA to be made public

¹¹⁶ FOIA requires disclosure of government records upon request unless an exemption applies permitting the government to withhold the requested records. See 5 U.S.C. § 552.

because he "did not want people to believe him to have committed a variety of crimes." As she explained to OPR, Villafaña believed the NPA did not need to be disclosed in its entirety, but she anticipated notifying the victims about the NPA provisions relating to their ability to recover damages.

E. The Parties Appear to Reach Agreement on a Plea to Federal Charges

Negotiations continued the next day, Tuesday, September 18, 2007. Responding to Villafaña's revised draft of the NPA, Lefkowitz suggested that Epstein plead to one federal charge with a 12-month sentence, followed by one year of supervised release with a requirement for home detention and two years of state probation, with the first six months of the state sentence to be served under community control. Villafaña replied, "I know that the U.S. Attorney will not go below 18 months of prison/jail time (and I would strongly oppose the suggestion)." Shortly thereafter, Villafaña emailed Acosta, Lourie, and the incoming West Palm Beach manager:

Hi all – I think that we may be near the end of our negotiations with Mr. Epstein, and not because we have reached a resolution. As I mentioned yesterday, I spent about 12 hours over the weekend drafting Informations, changing plea agreements, and writing factual proffers. I was supposed to receive a draft agreement from them yesterday, which never arrived. At that time, they were leaning towards pleading only to state charges and doing all of the time in state custody.

Late last night I talked to Jay Lefkowitz who asked about Epstein pleading to two twelve-

month federal charges with half of his jail time being spent in home confinement pursuant to the guidelines. I told him that I had no objection to that approach but, in the interest of full disclosure, I did not believe that Mr. Epstein would be eligible because he will not be in Zone A or B.¹¹⁷ This morning Jay Lefkowitz called and said that I was correct but, if we could get Mr. Epstein down to 14 months, then he thought he would be eligible.

My response: have him plead to two separate Informations. On the first one he gets 12 months' imprisonment and on the second he gets twelve months, with six served in home confinement, to run consecutively.

I just received an e-mail asking if Mr. Epstein could just do 12 months imprisonment instead.

As you can see, Mr. Epstein is having second thoughts about doing jail time. I would like to send Jay Lefkowitz an e-mail stating that if we do not have a signed agreement by tomorrow at 5:00, negotiations will end. I have selected tomorrow at 5:00 because it gives them enough time to really negotiate an agreement if they are serious about it, and if not, it gives me one day before the Jewish holiday to get [prepared] for Tuesday . . . [September 25], when I plan to [file charges], and it gives the office sufficient time to review the indictment package.

Do you concur?

¹¹⁷ Sentences falling within Zones A or B of the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines permit probation or confinement alternatives to imprisonment.

A few minutes later, the incoming West Palm Beach manager emailed Lourie, suggesting that Lourie "talk to Epstein and close the deal." ¹¹⁸

Within moments, Lourie replied to the manager, with a copy to Villafaña, reporting that he had just spoken with Lefkowitz and agreed "to two fed[eral] obstruction[] charges (24 month cap) with nonbinding recommendation for 18 months. When [Epstein] gets out, he has to plead to state offenses, including against minor, registrable, and then take one year house arrest/community confinement." By reply email, Villafaña asked Lourie to call her, but there is no record of whether they spoke.

F. Defense Counsel Offers New Proposals Substantially Changing the Terms of the Federal Plea Agreement, which the USAO Rejects

Approximately an hour after Lourie's email reporting the deal he had reached with Lefkowitz, Lefkowitz sent Villafaña a revised draft plea agreement. Despite the agreement Lourie believed he and Lefkowitz had reached that morning, Lefkowitz's proposal would have resulted in a 16-month federal sentence followed by 8 months of supervised release served in the form of home detention. Lefkowitz also inserted a statement in his proposal explicitly prohibiting the USAO from requesting, initiating, or encouraging immigration authorities to institute immigration proceedings against two of Epstein's female assistants.

¹¹⁸ The manager told OPR that he probably meant this as a joke because in his view the continued back-and-forth communications with defense counsel "was ridiculous," and the only way to "get this deal done" might be to have a direct conversation with Epstein.

Villafaña circulated the defense's proposed plea agreement to Lourie and two other supervisors, and expressed frustration that the new defense version incorporated terms that were "completely different from what Jay just told Andy they would agree to." Villafaña also pointed out that the defense "wants us to recommend an improper calculation" of the sentencing guidelines and had added language waiving the preparation of a presentence investigation (PSI) "so he can keep all of his information confidential. I have already told Jay that the PSI language . . . was unacceptable to our office." Of even greater significance, in a follow-up email, Villafaña noted that the defense had removed both the requirement that Epstein plead to a registrable offense and the entire provision relating to monetary damages under 18 U.S.C. § 2255.

In the afternoon, Villafaña circulated her own proposed "hybrid" plea agreement, first internally to the management team with a note stating that it "contains the 18/12 split that Jay and Andy agreed to," and then to Lefkowitz. Regarding the prosecution of other individuals, she included the following provision: "This agreement resolves the federal criminal liability of the defendant and any co-conspirators in the Southern District of Florida growing out of any criminal conduct by those persons known to the [USAO] as of the date of this plea agreement," including but not limited to the conspiracy to solicit minors to engage in prostitution.

In her email to Lefkowitz, transmitting the plea agreement, Villafaña wrote:

Could you share the attached draft with your colleagues. It is in keeping with what Andy communicated to me was the operative "deal." The U.S. Attorney hasn't had a chance to

review all of the language, but he agrees with it in principle.

. . . .

[The West Palm Beach manager] and I will both be available at 2:00. . . . One of my suggestions is going to be (again) that we all sit down together in the same room, including Barry [Krischer] and/or Lanna [Belohlavek], so we can hash out the still existing issues and get a signed document.

Villafaña also emailed Acosta directly, telling him she planned to meet with Epstein's attorneys to work on the plea agreement, and asking if Acosta would be available to provide final approval. Acosta replied, "I don't think I should be part of negotiations. I'd rather leave it to you if that's ok." Acosta told OPR that "absent truly exceptional circumstances," he believed it was important for him "to not get involved" in negotiations, and added, "You can meet, like I did in September, [to] reaffirm the position of the office, [and] back your AUSA, but ultimately, I think your trial lawyer needs discretion to do their job." Villafaña told OPR, however, that she did not understand Acosta to be giving her discretion to conduct the negotiations as she saw fit; rather, she believed Acosta did not want to engage in face-to-face negotiations because "he wanted to have an appearance of having sort of an arm's length from the deal."119 Villafaña replied to Acosta's

¹¹⁹ As noted throughout the Report, Villafaña's interpretation of her supervisors' motivations for their actions often differed from the supervisors' explanations for their actions. Because it involved subjective interpretations of individuals' motivations, OPR does not reach conclusions regarding the subjects' differing views but includes them as an indication of the communication

message, "That is fine. [The West Palm Beach manager] and I will nail everything down, we just want to get a final blessing."

Negotiations continued throughout the day on Wednesday, September 19, 2007, with Villafaña and Lefkowitz exchanging emails regarding the factual proffer for a plea and the scheduling of a meeting to finalize the plea agreement's terms. During that exchange, Villafaña made clear to Lefkowitz that the time for negotiating was reaching an end:

I hate to have to be firm about this, but we need to wrap this up by Monday. I will not miss my [September 25 charging] date when this has dragged on for several weeks already and then, if things fall apart, be left in a less advantageous position than before the negotiations. I have had an 82-page pros memo and 53-page indictment sitting on the shelf since May to engage in these negotiations. There has to be an ending date, and that date is Monday.

Early that afternoon, Lourie—who was participating in the week's negotiations from his new post at the Department in Washington, D.C.—asked Villafaña to furnish him with the last draft of the plea agreement she had sent to defense counsel, and she provided him with the "18/12 split" draft she had sent to Lefkowitz the prior afternoon. After reviewing that draft, Lourie told Villafaña it was a "[g]ood job" but he questioned certain provisions, including whether the USAO's agreement to suspend the investigation and hold all legal process in abeyance should be in the plea

issues that hindered the prosecution team. See Chapter Two, Part Three, Section V.E.

agreement. Villafaña told Lourie that she had added that paragraph at the "insistence" of the defense, and opined, "I don't think it hurts us." Villafaña explained to OPR that she held this view because "Alex and people above me had already made the decision that if the case was resolved we weren't going to get the computer equipment."

At 3:44 p.m. that afternoon, Lefkowitz emailed a "redline" version of the federal plea agreement showing his new revisions, and noted that he was "also working on a deferred [sic] prosecution agreement because it may well be that we cannot reach agreement here." The defense redline version required Epstein to plead guilty to a federal information charging two misdemeanor counts of attempt to intentionally harass a person to prevent testimony, the pending state indictment charging solicitation of prostitution, and a state information charging one count of coercing a person to become a prostitute, in violation of Florida Statute § 796.04 (without regard to age). Neither of the proposed state offenses required sexual offender registration. Epstein would serve an 18-month sentence and a concurrent 60 months on probation on the state charges. The redline version again deleted the provisions relating to damages under 18 U.S.C. § 2255 and replaced it with the provision requiring creation of a trust administered by the state court. It retained language proposed by Villafaña, providing that the plea agreement "resolves the federal criminal liability of the defendant and any co-conspirators in the Southern District of Florida growing out of any criminal conduct by those persons known to the [USAO] as of the date of this plea agreement," but also re-inserted the provision promising not to prosecute Epstein's assistants and the statement prohibiting the USAO from requesting,

initiating, or encouraging immigration proceedings. It also included a provision stating the government's agreement to forgo a presentence investigation and a promise by the government to suspend the investigation and withdraw all pending legal process.

* * *

[79] I think Jay [Lefkowitz] will try to talk you out of a registrable offense. Regardless of the merits of his argument, in order to get us down in time they made us an offer that included pleading to an offense against a minor (encouraging a minor into prostitution) and touted that we should be happy because it was registrable. For that reason alone, I don't think we should consider allowing them to come down from their own offer, either on this issue or on time of incarceration.

Lefkowitz attempted to reach Acosta that night, but Acosta directed Villafaña to return the call, and told Lourie that he did not want to open "a backchannel" with defense counsel. Lourie instructed Villafaña, "U can tell [J]ay that [A]lex will not agree to a nonregistration offense."

On the morning of Friday, September 21, 2007, Villafaña emailed Acosta informing him that "it looks like we will be [filing charges against] Mr. Epstein on Tuesday," reporting that the charging package was being reviewed by the West Palm Beach manager, and asking if anyone in the Miami office needed to review it. Villafaña also alerted Lourie that she had spoken that morning to Lefkowitz, who "was waffling" about Epstein pleading to a state charge that required sexual offender registration, and she noted that she

would confer with Krischer and Belohlavek "to make sure the defense doesn't try to do an end run."

That same morning, Epstein attorney Sanchez, who had not been involved in negotiations for several weeks, emailed Sloman, advising, "[I] want to finalize the plea deal and there is only one issue outstanding and [I] do not believe that [A]lex has read all the defense submissions that would assist in his determination on this point . . . [U]pon resolution, we will be prepared to sign as soon as today." From his out-oftown vacation, Sloman forwarded the email to Acosta, who replied, "Enjo[y] vacation. Working with [M]arie on this." Sloman also forwarded Sanchez's email to Lourie and asked, "Do you know what she's talking about?" Lourie responded that Sanchez "has not been in any negotiations. Don't even engage with yet another cook."

J. The USAO Agrees Not to Criminally Charge "Potential Co-Conspirators"

Lefkowitz, in the meantime, sent Villafaña a revised draft NPA that proposed an 18-month sentence in the county jail, followed by 12 months of community control, and restored the provision for a trust fund for disbursement to an agreed-upon list of individuals "who seek reimbursement by filing suit pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2255." This defense draft retained the provision promising not to criminally charge Epstein's four female assistants and unnamed employees of the specific Epstein-owned corporate entity, but also extended the provision to "any potential co-conspirators" for any criminal charge arising from the ongoing federal investigation. This language had evolved from similar language that Villafaña had included in the USAO's

earlier proposed draft federal plea agreement. 122 Lefkowitz also again included the sentence precluding the government from requesting, initiating, or recommending immigration proceedings against the two assistants who were foreign nationals.

At this point, Lefkowitz again sought to speak to Acosta, who replied by email: "I am happy to talk. My caveat is that in the middle of negotiations, u try to avoid[] undermining my staff by allowing 'interlocutor[]y' appeals so to speak so I'd want [M] arie on the call[.] I'll have her set something up."

Villafaña sent to Lefkowitz her own revised NPA, telling him it was her "attempt at combining our thoughts," but it had not "been approved by the office yet." She inserted solicitation of minors to engage in prostitution, a registrable offense, as the charge to which Epstein would plead guilty; proposed a joint recommendation for a 30-month sentence, divided into 18 months in the county jail and 12 months of community control; and amended the § 2255 provision. Villafaña's revision retained the provision suspending the investigation and holding all legal process in abeyance, and she incorporated the non-prosecution provision while slightly altering it to apply

¹²² The language in the USAO's draft federal plea agreement stated, "This agreement resolves the federal criminal liability of the defendant and any co-conspirators in the Southern District of Florida growing out of any criminal conduct by those persons known to the [USAO] "

¹²³ Villafaña noted that she had consulted with a USAO employee who was a "former corporate counsel from a hospital" about the § 2255 language, and thought that the revised language "addresses the concern about having an unlimited number of claimed victims, without me trying to bind girls who I do not represent."

to "any potential co-conspirator of Epstein, including" the four named assistants, and deleting mention of the corporate entity employees. Finally, Villafaña deleted mention of immigration proceedings, but advised in her transmittal email that "we have not and don't plan to ask immigration" proceedings to be initiated.¹²⁴

Later that day, Villafaña alerted Lourie (who had arrived in Florida from Washington, D.C. early that afternoon) and the new West Palm Beach manager (copying her first-line supervisor and co-counsel) that she had included language that defense counsel had requested "regarding promises not to prosecute other people," and commented, "I don't think it hurts us." There is no documentation that Lourie, the West Palm Beach manager, or anyone else expressed disagreement with Villafaña's assessment. Rather, within a few minutes, Villafaña re-sent her email, adding that defense counsel was persisting in including an immigration waiver in the agreement, to which Lourie responded, "No way. We don't put that sort of thing in a plea agreement." Villafaña replied to Lourie, indicating she would pass that along to defense counsel and adding, "Any other thoughts?" When Lourie gave no further response, Villafaña informed defense counsel that Lourie had rejected the proposed immigration language.

OPR questioned the subjects about the USAO's agreement not to prosecute "any potential co-

¹²⁴ Villafaña gave OPR an explanation similar to that given by the case agents—that an ICE Special Agent had been involved in the early stages of the federal investigation of Epstein, and Villafaña believed the agent knew two of Epstein's female assistants were foreign nationals and would have acted appropriately on that information. Villafaña also said that the USAO generally did not get involved in immigration issues.

conspirators." Lourie did not recall why the USAO agreed to it, but he speculated that he left that provision in the NPA because he believed at the time that it benefited the government in some way. In particular, Lourie conjectured that the promise not to prosecute "any potential co-conspirators" protected victims who had recruited others and thus potentially were co-conspirators in Epstein's scheme. Lourie also told OPR, "I bet the answer was that we weren't going to charge" Epstein's accomplices, because Acosta "didn't really want to charge Epstein" in federal court. Sloman similarly said that he had the impression that the non-prosecution provision was meant to protect named co-conspirators who were also victims, "in a sense," of Epstein's conduct. Although later press coverage of the Epstein case focused on Epstein's connection to prominent figures and suggested that the non-prosecution provision protected these individuals, Sloman told OPR that it never occurred to him that the reference to potential co-conspirators was directed toward any of the high-profile individuals who were at the time or subsequently linked with Epstein. 125 Acosta did not recall the provision or any discussions about it. He speculated that if he read the nonprosecution provision, he likely assumed that Villafaña and Lourie had "thought this through" and "addressed it for a reason." The West Palm Beach manager, who had only limited involvement at this stage, told OPR that the provision was "highly unusual," and he had "no clue" why the USAO agreed to it.

Villafaña told OPR that, apart from the women named in the NPA, the investigation had not developed

¹²⁵ Sloman also pointed out that the NPA was not a "global resolution" and other co-conspirators could have been prosecuted "by any other [U.S. Attorney's] office in the country."

evidence of "any other potential co-conspirators. So, . . . we wouldn't be prosecuting anybody else, so why not include it? . . . I just didn't think that there was anybody that it would cover." She conceded, however, that she "did not catch the fact that it could be read as broadly as people have since read it."

K. The USAO Rejects Defense Efforts to Eliminate the Sexual Offender Registration Requirement

On the afternoon of Friday, September 21, 2007, State Attorney Krischer informed Villafaña that Epstein's counsel had contacted him and Epstein was ready to agree "to all the terms" of the NPA—except for sexual offender registration. According to Krischer, defense counsel had proposed that registration be deferred, and that Epstein register only if state or federal law enforcement felt, at any point during his service of the sentence, that he needed to do so. Krischer noted that he had "reached out" to Acosta about this proposal but had not heard back from him. Villafaña responded, "I think Alex is calling you now." Villafaña told OPR that, to her knowledge, Acosta called Krischer to tell him that registration was not a negotiable term. 126

Later that afternoon, Villafaña emailed Krischer for information about the amount of "gain time" Epstein would earn in state prison. Villafaña explained in her email that she wanted to include a provision in the NPA specifying that Epstein "will actually be in jail at least a certain number of days to make sure he doesn't try to 'convince' someone with the Florida prison

¹²⁶ Krischer told OPR that he did not recall meeting or having interactions with Acosta regarding the Epstein case or any other matter.

authorities to let him out early." Krischer responded that under the proposal as it then stood, Epstein would serve 15 months. He also told Villafaña that a plea to a registrable offense would not prevent Epstein from serving his time "at the stockade"—the local minimum security detention facility. 127

* * *

[139] authority to deviate from the Ashcroft Memo's "most serious readily provable offense" requirement.

Although Acosta could not recall specifically how or by whom the decision was made to allow Epstein to plead to only one of the three charges identified on the original term sheet, or how or by whom the decision was made to reduce the sentencing requirement from two years to 18 months, Acosta was aware of these changes. He reviewed and approved the final NPA before it was signed. Department policy gave him the discretion to approve the agreement, notwithstanding any arguable failure to comply with the "most serious readily provable offense" requirement. Furthermore, the Ashcroft Memo does not appear to preclude a U.S. Attorney from deferring to a state prosecution, so it is not clear that the Memo's terms apply to a situation involving state charges. Accordingly, OPR concludes that the negotiation of an agreement that allowed Epstein to resolve the federal investigation in return for the imposition of an 18-month state sentence did

¹²⁷ The State Attorney concluded his email: "Glad we could get this worked out for reasons I won't put in writing. After this is resolved I would love to buy you a cup at Starbucks and have a conversation." Villafaña responded, "Sounds great." When asked about this exchange during her OPR interview, Villafaña said: "Everybody

not violate a clear and unambiguous standard and therefore does not constitute professional misconduct.

> 2. The USAO's Agreement Not to Prosecute Unidentified "Potential Co-Conspirators" Did Not Violate a Clear and Unambiguous Department Policy

Several witnesses told OPR that they believed the government's agreement not to prosecute unidentified "potential co-conspirators" amounted to "transactional immunity," which the witnesses asserted is prohibited by Department policy. Although "use immunity" protects a witness only against the government's use of his or her immunized testimony in a prosecution of the witness, and is frequently used by prosecutors, transactional immunity protects a witness from prosecution altogether and is relatively rare.

OPR found no policy prohibiting a U.S. Attorney from declining to prosecute third parties or providing transactional immunity. One section of the USAM related to immunity but applied only to the exchange of "use immunity" for the testimony of a witness who has asserted a Fifth Amendment privilege. See USAM § 9-23.100 et seq. Statutory provisions relating to immunity also address the same context. See 18 U.S.C. § 6002; 21 U.S.C. § 884. Moreover, apart from voluntariness or enforceability concerns, courts have not suggested that a prosecutor's promise not to prosecute a third party amounts to an inappropriate exercise of prosecutorial discretion. See, e.g., Marquez, 909 F.2d at 741-43; Kemp, 760 F.2d at 1248; Stinson, 839 So. 2d at 909; Frazier, 697 So. 2d 945. OPR found no clear and unambiguous standard that was violated by the USAO's agreement not to prosecute "potential" co-conspirators," and therefore cannot conclude that negotiating or approving this provision violated a clear

and unambiguous standard or constituted professional misconduct.

Notwithstanding this finding, in Section IV of this Part, OPR includes in its criticism of Acosta's decision to approve the NPA his approval of this provision without considering its potential consequences, including to whom it would apply.

* * *

[140]



U.S. Department of Justice Office of the Solicitor General

Washington, D.C. 20530

May 7, 2025

Honorable Scott S. Harris Clerk Supreme Court of the United States Washington, D.C. 20543

Re: Ghislaine Maxwell v. United States of America,

S.Ct. No. 24-1073

Dear Mr. Harris:

The petition for a writ of certiorari in the above-captioned case was filed on April 10, 2025, and placed on the docket on April 14, 2025. The government's response is due on May 14, 2025.

We respectfully request, under Rule 30.4 of the rules of this Court, an extension of time to and including June 13, 2025, within which to file the government's response.

This extension is requested to complete preparation of the government's response, which was delayed because of the heavy press of earlier assigned cases to the attorneys handling this matter.

Sincerely,

D John Sauer Solicitor General

cc: See Attached Service List

24-1073 MAXWELL, GHISLAINE USA

> SARA KROPF KROPF MOSELEY SCHMITT PLLC 1100 H STREET, NW SUITE 1220 WASHINGTON, DC 20005 202-627-6900 SARA@KMLAWFIRM.COM

DAVID OSCAR MARKUS MARKUS/MOSS PLLC 40 N.W. 3RD STREET PENTHOUSE ONE MIAMI, FL 33128 305-379-6667 DMARKUS@MARKUSLAW.COM IN THE

Supreme Court of the United States

GHISLAINE MAXWELL,

Petitioner,

v.

UNITED STATES,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CRIMINAL DEFENSE LAWYERS IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER

Jeffrey T. Green
Co-Chair Amicus
Committee
National Association of
Criminal Defense Lawyers
1600 L Street NW
Washington, DC 20036

Sara Elizabeth Kropf
Counsel of Record
Kropf Moseley Schmitt
PLLC
1100 H Street NW
Suite 1220
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 627-6900
sara@kmlawfirm.com
Counsel for Amicus Curiae

120443



COUNSEL PRESS (800) 274-3321 • (800) 359-6859 i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
TABL	E OF CONTENTS
TABL	E OF CITED AUTHORITIES i
INTE	REST OF AMICI
	RODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF GUMENT
ARGU	MENT
1.	Defendants should be able to rely on the government's promises and courts should not hesitate to enforce them
2.	The Department of Justice knows how to draft plea agreements to bind only part of the Department in future prosecutions
3.	The consistent practice of USAOs to limit the scope of plea agreements stands in stark contrast to the scope of the NPA here
CONC	T LIGION 19

ii

TABLE OF CITED AUTHORITIES

	Page
Cases:	
Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742 (1970)	$\dots .4, 5$
Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972)	12
McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459 (1969)	$\dots 4, 5$
Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134 (2012)	$\dots .4, 7$
Puckett v. United States, 556 U.S. 129 (2009)	4
United States v. Amani Investments, No. 2:23-cr-00014-JAM, ECF No. 8 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 7, 2023)	8
United States v. Barnes, No. 3:19-cr-00112-K, ECF No. 355 (Apr. 1, 202	22) 12
United States v. Chuong, No. 1:21-cr-00164, ECF No. 67 (July 7, 2022)	9
United States v. Coccagna, No. 1:22-cr-00407-YK, ECF No. 3-1 (Dec. 2, 20)22)11

iii

Cited Authorities

Pa	age
Inited States v. Detloff Marketing and Asset Management, Inc.,	
No. 18-cr-00197-PAM-HB, ECF No. 96 (July 25, 2019)	. 10
$No.\ 22 ext{-CR-}673\ (RA)\ (Dec.\ 18,\ 2022)\ \dots \dots$	11
No. 22-On-075 (NA) (Dec. 16, 2022)	.11
Inited States v. Gebbie,	
294 F.3d 540 (3d Cir. 2002)	6
Inited States v. Giaquinto,	
No. 2:22-cr-00035-MHH-GMB, ECF No. 326	
(Nov. 18, 2024)	8
Inited States v. Gibson,	
No. 1:20-cr-00094, ECF No. 148 (Mar. 30, 2022)	. 10
Inited States v. Goldfield,	
No. 1:16-cr-00513-JBS, ECF No. 39	
(Dec. 22, 2016)	.11
Inited States v. Koo,	
No. 2:23-cr-00568-DSF-1, ECF No. 8	
(Nov. 20, 2023)	9
Inited States v. Lafarge S.A.,	
No. 1:22-cr-00444-WFK, ECF No. 10	
(Oct. 18, 2022)	.11

iv

$Cited\ Authorities$

Page
United States v. Malik, No. 4:24-cr-00010-HEA, ECF No. 127 (Apr. 4, 2023)
United States v. McIntyre, No. 1:24-cr-00211, ECF No. 33 (Dec. 19, 2024) 8
United States v. Osorto, 445 F. Supp. 3d 103 (N.D. Cal. 2020)
United States v. Patel, No. 1:19-cr-00081-RDM, ECF No. 4 (Apr. 4, 2019)9
United States v. Sterling Bancorp, Inc., No. 2:23-cr-20174-LVP-DRG, ECF No. 12 (May 18, 2023)10
United States v. Woods, No. 1:23-cr-00064, ECF No. 8-1 (Mar. 3, 2023) 9
Rules:
Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(b)(2)5
Sup. Ct. R. 37.2
Sup. Ct. R. 37.6

v

$Cited\ Authorities$

	Page
Other Authorities:	
https://fm.cnbc.com/applications/cnbc.com/resources/editorialfiles/2022/12/21/	
1671676065196-Caroline_Ellison_Plea_ Agreement.pdf	
Robert H. Jackson, <i>The Federal Prosecutor</i> , 24 J. Am. Judicature Soc'y 18 (1940)	
Justice Manual § 9-27.630	13
Erik Luna & Marianne Wade, <i>Prosecutors as Judges</i> , 67 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 1413 (2010)	6

1

INTEREST OF AMICI¹

The National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers (NACDL) is a nonprofit voluntary professional bar association that works on behalf of criminal defendants to ensure justice and due process for those accused of crime or misconduct. Founded in 1958, NACDL has a nationwide membership of thousands of direct members and up to 40,000 affiliates. NACDL's members include private criminal defense lawyers, public defenders, military defense counsel, law professors, and judges. NACDL is the only nationwide professional bar association for public defenders and criminal defense lawyers.

NACDL is dedicated to advancing the proper, efficient, and fair administration of justice. NACDL files numerous amicus briefs each year in this Court and other federal and state courts, seeking to provide assistance in cases that present issues of broad importance to criminal defendants, criminal defense lawyers, and the criminal justice system as a whole. Given their prevalence, the interpretation of plea agreements is a question of great importance to NACDL and the clients its members represent. NACDL is well positioned to provide additional insight into the implications of this issue for criminal defendants across the country.

^{1.} Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 37.6, amicus curiae states that no counsel for any party authored this brief in whole or in part and no entity or person, aside from amicus curiae, its members, or its counsel, made any monetary contribution intended to fund the preparation or submission of this brief. Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 37.2, amicus curiae provided notice to the parties.

2

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendants in criminal cases rely on the promises made by the Department of Justice when deciding whether to plead guilty and face the life-altering consequences of doing so. The government's promises, made in return for demanding the defendant's waiver of constitutional rights, should be rigorously enforced. Yet the lower court permitted the government to escape its promises and incorrectly limited the scope of the non-prosecution and plea agreement (NPA) well beyond its plain language.

The intentionally broad scope of this NPA may be surprising in retrospect but that does not change the words on the page. Indeed, a survey of plea agreements from across the country shows that the Department of Justice knows how to limit a plea agreement's reach to a single prosecutorial district rather than making it a nationwide restriction against future prosecution. Where, as here, the "United States . . . agrees that it will not institute any criminal charges against any potential coconspirators" (App. 31a), without imposing any geographic limitation, no part of the Department of Justice may institute criminal charges against any co-conspirator in any district.

The Department of Justice directs prosecutors to be careful when exercising their authority to bind the entire Department but there is no question that prosecutors have the authority to do so. That they rarely exercise this authority is not a ground for invalidating it, quite the opposite.

Amicus NACDL urges the Court to grant this petition and resolve the conflict among the circuits to ensure that the government keeps its promises.

ARGUMENT

The Department of Justice (the "Department") routinely limits the scope of its plea agreements to the specific United States Attorney's Office (USAO) that is a party to the agreement. Prosecutors in other districts and other parts of the Department could therefore later charge the defendant for the same or related conduct. Where, as here, the government chooses not to adopt limiting language, a court should not negate its bargained-for promise to the defendant and instead enforce the language as written. Amicus urges the Court to grant the petition to resolve the split among the circuits and ensure that defendants and their counsel can rely on the promises made by the United States in its written agreements.

Defendants should be able to rely on the government's promises and courts should not hesitate to enforce them.

Like any party to any contract, defendants in criminal cases rely on the promises made by the Department. And defendants give up a lot in return. A defendant entering into a plea agreement forgoes his constitutional right to a trial by jury and right to appeal, faces the near certainty of a prison sentence and loss of freedom, agrees to pay financial penalties through fines and forfeiture, and faces the myriad collateral effects of a criminal conviction after serving the sentence.

"The reality is that plea bargains have become so central to the administration of the criminal justice system that defense counsel have responsibilities in the plea bargain process, responsibilities that must be met to render the adequate assistance of counsel that the Sixth Amendment requires in the criminal process at critical stages." *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. 134, 143 (2012). That responsibility, borne by NACDL's members, requires defense counsel to explain the benefits and drawbacks of a plea agreement to their clients.

As a practical matter, every criminal defendant hopes that a plea agreement will end their exposure to future prosecution for the same or related conduct. Defense counsel must explain to their clients that while a plea agreement ensures that the client is not charged for the same or related conduct in that district, most plea agreements expose the client to prosecution in other districts. It creates an impossible situation if defense counsel must now explain to their clients that the court may later excuse the Department from its promises.

Guilty pleas must be knowing and voluntary. *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969). As the Court has explained, "[i]t is precisely because the plea was knowing and voluntary... that the Government is obligated to uphold its side of the bargain." *Puckett v. United States*, 556 U.S. 129, 137–38 (2009). A "guilty plea is a grave and solemn act to be accepted only with care and discernment." *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970). A plea "is more than an admission of past conduct; it is the defendant's consent that judgment of conviction may be entered without a trial—a waiver of his right to trial before a jury or a judge. Waivers of constitutional

rights not only must be voluntary but must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences." *Id.* A defendant, however, cannot have "sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences" of a plea agreement if the United States can change the plain language of the agreement down the road without the defendant's consent.

Likewise, a court cannot discharge its crucial role in the plea process if it does not know whether to trust United States' words. The court is not a rubber stamp in the plea process. Rather, the Rule 11(b)-mandated plea colloquy "is designed to assist the district judge in making the constitutionally required determination that a defendant's guilty plea is truly voluntary." McCarthy, 394 U.S. at 465. The court, through this colloquy, must personally interrogate the defendant on the record to ensure that a plea is voluntary in part by establishing that the plea agreement contains all promises made to the defendant in return for his consent to plead guilty. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(b)(2) ("Before accepting a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the court must address the defendant personally in open court and determine that the plea is voluntary and did not result from force, threats, or promises (other than promises in a plea agreement).").

This case involves an unusually broad non-prosecution agreement. But nothing in the law permits the United States to break its promises simply because the promise is an atypical one.

During plea negotiations, the Department wields extraordinary leverage as compared to a criminal

defendant. Even the most ably represented defendant cannot overcome this unequal balance of power. The government's substantial "advantage in bargaining power" means that ambiguities like this one must be construed against the government. *United States v. Gebbie*, 294 F.3d 540, 552 (3d Cir. 2002).

Defense counsel confront their clients' unequal bargaining power every time they attempt to obtain a resolution that is in the best interest of their client while mollifying a prosecutor who has little institutional incentive to be lenient. Judge Charles Breyer accurately described the process:

It is no answer to say that [the defendant] is striking a deal with the Government, and could reject this term if he wanted to, because that statement does not reflect the reality of the bargaining table. See Erik Luna & Marianne Wade, Prosecutors as Judges, 67 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 1413, 1414-15 (2010). As to terms such as this one, plea agreements are contracts of adhesion. The Government offers the defendant a deal, and the defendant can take it or leave it. *Id.* ("American prosecutors . . . choose whether to engage in plea negotiations and the terms of an acceptable agreement."). If he leaves it, he does so at his peril. And the peril is real, because on the other side of the offer is the enormous power of the United States Attorney to investigate, to order arrests, to bring a case or to dismiss it, to recommend a sentence or the conditions of supervised release, and on

and on. See Robert H. Jackson, *The Federal Prosecutor*, 24 J. Am. Judicature Soc'y 18, 18 (1940).

United States v. Osorto, 445 F. Supp. 3d 103, 109 (N.D. Cal. 2020).

To permit the United States to escape the plain language of its agreement in this case would work a detriment on the entire plea system. This is of particular concern given that the criminal justice system "is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials." *Missouri v. Frye*, 566 U.S. at 143–44. For the plea system to work in practice, defense counsel and defendants must be able to rely on the written promises made by the government and trust that courts will honor and enforce those promises down the road, even when it means that the Department must forego a meritorious prosecution.

Consider a situation where a defendant agrees to plead guilty to a violent felony that will bring substantial prison time. He agrees to plead only because the "United States" promises in writing that it will not charge any co-conspirators in the offense, including the defendant's brother, and because the plea agreement contains no geographic or other limitation on that promise. The defendant should be able to rely on the government's bargained-for promise that he alone will suffer incarceration. And a prosecutor in a different district must not be permitted to charge his brother with conspiracy to commit the same offense.

2. The Department of Justice knows how to draft plea agreements to bind only part of the Department in future prosecutions.

As the trial court correctly noted, "[s]ingle district plea agreements are the norm." (App. 56a) A survey of plea agreements from districts across the county reveals that the Department of Justice routinely drafts plea agreements with this limited single-district scope.

Here are examples from districts across the country:

Middle District of Alabama: "The defendant understands that this agreement binds only the Office of the United States Attorney for the Middle District of Alabama and that the agreement does not bind any other component of the United States Department of Justice, nor does it bind any state or local prosecuting authority." United States v. McIntyre, No. 1:24-cr-00211, ECF No. 33 (Dec. 19, 2024), at 14.

Northern District of Alabama: "The Defendant understands and agrees that this Agreement does not bind any other United States Attorney in any other district, or any other state or local authority." *United States v. Giaquinto*, No. 2:22-cr-00035-MHH-GMB, ECF No. 326 (Nov. 18, 2024), at 13.

Eastern District of California: "This plea agreement is limited to the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of California and cannot bind any other federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authorities." *United States v. Amani Investments*, No. 2:23-cr-00014-JAM, ECF No. 8 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 7, 2023), at 1.

Central District of California: "This agreement is limited to the [Central District of California] USAO and cannot bind any other federal, state, local, or foreign prosecuting, enforcement, administrative, or regulatory authorities." *United States v. Koo*, No. 2:23-cr-00568-DSF-1, ECF No. 8 (Nov. 20, 2023), at 1.

District of Colorado: "This agreement binds only the Criminal Division of the United States Attorney's Office for the District of Colorado and the defendant." *United States v. Chuong*, No. 1:21-cr-00164, ECF No. 67 (July 7, 2022), at 1.

District of Columbia: "Your client further understands that this Agreement is binding only upon the Criminal and Superior Court Divisions of the United States Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia as well as the Criminal Division's Public Integrity Section. This Agreement does not bind the Civil Division of this Office or any other United States Attorney's Office, nor does it bind any other state, local, or federal prosecutor." *United States v. Patel*, No. 1:19-cr-00081-RDM, ECF No. 4 (April 4, 2019), at 11–12.

Northern District of Georgia: "The United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Georgia agrees not to bring further criminal charges against the Defendant related to the charges to which he is pleading guilty. The Defendant understands that this provision does not bar prosecution by any other federal, state, or local jurisdiction." *United States v. Woods*, No. 1:23-cr-00064, ECF No. 8-1 (Mar. 3, 2023), at 4.

Southern District of Indiana: "This document and the addendum constitute the complete and only Plea Agreement between the Defendant, the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Indiana, and the Civil Rights Division and is binding only on the parties to the agreement, supersede all prior understandings, if any, whether written or oral, and cannot be modified except in writing, signed by all parties and filed with the Court, or on the record in open court." *United States v. Gibson*, No. 1:20-cr-00094, ECF No. 148 (Mar. 30, 2022), at 17.

Eastern District of Michigan: "The Defendant understands and agrees that this Agreement is between the Fraud Section and the Defendant and does not bind any other division or section of the Department of Justice or any other federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authority." *United States v. Sterling Bancorp, Inc.*, No. 2:23-cr-20174-LVP-DRG, ECF No. 12 (May 18, 2023), at 4.

District of Minnesota: "This Plea Agreement binds only the Defendant and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice. . . . This Plea Agreement does not bind any other state or federal agency." United States v. Detloff Marketing and Asset Management, Inc., No. 18-cr-00197-PAM-HB, ECF No. 96 (July 25, 2019), at 1.

Eastern District of Missouri: "This agreement does not, and is not intended to, bind any governmental office or agency other than the United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Missouri." *United States v. Malik*, No. 4:24-cr-00010-HEA, ECF No. 127 (Apr. 4, 2023), at 1.

Eastern District of New York: "The Defendants understand and agree that this Agreement is among

the Office [Eastern District of New York USAO], the NSD [National Security Division of the United States Department of Justice], and the Defendants, and does not bind any other division or section of the Department of Justice or any other federal, state, local or foreign prosecuting, administrative or regulatory authority." *United States v. Lafarge S.A.*, No. 1:22-cr-00444-WFK, ECF No. 10 (Oct. 18, 2022), at 3.

District of New Jersey: "This agreement is limited to the United States Attorney's Office for the District of New Jersey and cannot bind other federal, state, or local authorities." *United States v. Goldfield*, No. 1:16-cr-00513-JBS, ECF No. 39 (Dec. 22, 2016), at 4.

Southern District of New York: "This Agreement does not bind any federal, state, or local prosecuting authority other than this Office." *United States v. Ellison*, No. 22-CR-673 (RA), at 4 (Dec. 18, 2022), at 4.²

Middle District of Pennsylvania: "Nothing in this Agreement shall bind any other United States Attorney's Office, state prosecutor's office, or federal, state or local law enforcement agency." *United States v. Coccagna*, No. 1:22-cr-00407-YK, ECF No. 3-1 (Dec. 2, 2022), at 29.

Northern District of Texas. "This agreement is limited to the United States Department of Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud Section and the United States Attorney's Office for the Northern District of Texas, and

^{2.} Available at https://fm.cnbc.com/applications/cnbc.com/resources/editorialfiles/2022/12/21/1671676065196-Caroline_Ellison_Plea_Agreement.pdf (accessed May 5, 2025).

does not bind any other federal, state, or local prosecuting authorities, nor does it prohibit any civil or administrative proceeding against the defendant or any property." *United States v. Barnes*, No. 3:19-cr-00112-K, ECF No. 355 (Apr. 1, 2022), at 7.

3. The consistent practice of USAOs to limit the scope of plea agreements stands in stark contrast to the scope of the NPA here.

The trial court correctly noted that "[n]ationwide, unlimited agreements are the rare exception." (App. at 56a). The fact that this NPA is a "rare exception" to Department's general practice does not void the agreement's broad reach. In fact, the rarity of nationwide agreements is a persuasive reason to enforce it because there can be no question that the choice of language was intentional and a key part of the parties' bargain.

This situation is no different than a contractual provision that binds a corporate subsidiary and, by extension, the parent corporation. Unless the subsidiary plainly lacked authority to enter into the agreement, that provision is enforceable against the parent. Similarly, one USAO has the authority to bind the entire Department. "[T]he prosecutor's office is an entity and as such it is the spokesman for the Government. A promise made by one attorney must be attributed, for these purposes, to the Government." Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972).

Recognizing that one prosecutor can bind all prosecutor, the Justice Manual instructs prosecutors that non-prosecution agreements should "be drawn in

terms that will not bind other federal prosecutors or agencies without their consent" and "the attorney for the government should explicitly limit the scope of his/her agreement to non-prosecution within his/her district." Justice Manual § 9-27.630.³ Given this instruction, when Department attorneys choose to draft a broad agreement, the court should enforce it as written. The NPA's broad language served the government's strategy at the time of the agreement. The Court should not permit the government to escape that language, even if that strategy may seem unwise or unintelligible with the benefit of hindsight.

CONCLUSION

The Court should grant review in this case to resolve the conflict among the circuits identified by petitioner and hold the Department of Justice to its word.

Respectfully submitted,

Jeffrey T. Green

Co-Chair Amicus

Committee

National Association of

Criminal Defense Lawyers

1600 L Street NW

Washington, DC 20036

Sara Elizabeth Kropf
Counsel of Record
Kropf Moseley Schmitt
PLLC
1100 H Street NW
Suite 1220
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 627-6900
sara@kmlawfirm.com
Counsel for Amicus Curiae

^{3.} Available at https://www.justice.gov/jm/jm-9-27000-principles-federal-prosecution#9-27.330 (accessed May 5, 2025).

jcsheppard.com



U.S. Department of Justice

Office of the Solicitor General

Washington, D.C. 20530

June 6, 2025

Honorable Scott S. Harris Clerk Supreme Court of the United States Washington, D.C. 20543

Re: Ghislaine Maxwell v. United States, No. 24-1073

Dear Mr. Harris:

The petition for a writ of certiorari in the above-captioned case was filed on April 10, 2025, and placed on the docket on April 14, 2025. The government's response is now due, after one extension, on June 13, 2025. We respectfully request, under Rule 30.4 of the Rules of this Court, a further extension of time to and including July 14, 2025, within which to file the government's response.

This extension is necessary because the attorneys with principal responsibility for preparation of the government's response have been heavily engaged with the press of previously assigned matters with proximate due dates.

Counsel for petitioner does not oppose this further extension.

Sincerely,

D. John Sauer Solicitor General

cc: See Attached Service List

24-1073 MAXWELL, GHISLAINE USA

> SARA KROPF KROPF MOSELEY SCHMITT PLLC 1100 H STREET, NW SUITE 1220 WASHINGTON, DC 20005 202-627-6900 SARA@KMLAWFIRM.COM

DAVID OSCAR MARKUS MARKUS/MOSS PLLC 40 N.W. 3RD STREET PENTHOUSE ONE MIAMI, FL 33128 305-379-6667 DMARKUS@MARKUSLAW.COM

No. 24-1073

In the Supreme Court of the United States

GHISLAINE MAXWELL, PETITIONER

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES IN OPPOSITION

D. John Sauer
Solicitor General
Counsel of Record
Matthew R. Galeotti
Acting Assistant Attorney
General
Ethan A. Sachs
Attorney
Department of Justice
Washington, D.C. 20530-0001
SupremeCtBriefs@usdoj.gov
(202) 514-2217

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether petitioner's prosecution for sex trafficking of a minor, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1591(a) and (b)(2), by the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York was prohibited by a nonprosecution agreement between the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of Florida and petitioner's coconspirator.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page			
Opinions below 1 Jurisdiction 1 Statement 2 Argument 7 Conclusion 16			
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES			
Cases:			
Astra USA, Inc. v. Santa Clara County, 563 U.S. 110 (2011)			
Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Echazabal, 536 U.S. 73 (2002)			
City of Columbus v. Ours Garage & Wrecker Serv., Inc., 536 U.S. 424 (2002)11			
Federal Crop Ins. Corp. v. Merrill, 332 U.S. 380 (1947)			
General Int. Ins. Co. v. Ruggles, 25 U.S. (12 Wheat.) 408 (1827)			
Graver Tank & Mfg. Co. v. Linde Air Prods. Co., 336 U.S. 271 (1949)			
Kirtsaeng v. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 568 U.S. 519 (2013)			
Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419 (1995)13			
Margalli-Olvera v. Immigration & Naturalization Serv., 43 F.3d 345 (8th Cir. 1994)14			
Prisco v. United States, 562 U.S. 1290 (2011)			
Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257 (1971)			
Supervisors v. Stanley, 105 U.S. 305 (1882)			
35 F.3d 1332 (9th Cir. 1994)13			

(III)

IV

U:	ases—Continued:	Page
	United States v. Andreas, 216 F.3d 645 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 1014 (2000)	15
	United States v. Annabi,	
	771 F.2d 670 (2d Cir. 1985)	13, 14
	United States v. Carter, 454 F.2d 426 (4th Cir. 1972),	
	cert. denied, 417 U.S. 933 (1974)	13
	United States v. Castaneda,	
	162 F.3d 832 (5th Cir. 1998)	8
	United States v. Gebbie,	
	294 F.3d 540 (3d Cir. 2002) 10, 1	13, 14
	United States v. Johnston, 199 F.3d 1015 (9th Cir.	200
	1999), cert. denied, 530 U.S. 1207 (2000)	
	United States v. Lopez, 944 F.2d 33 (1st Cir. 1991)	15
	United States v. Moreno-Membache,	_
	995 F.3d 249 (D.C. Cir. 2021)	8
	United States v. Rourke, 74 F.3d 802 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1215 (1996)	13, 14
	United States v. Trevino,	
	556 F.2d 1265 (5th Cir. 1977)	8
	United States v. Van Thournout,	
	100 F.3d 590 (8th Cir. 1996)	13
St	tatutes and rule:	
	Judiciary Act of 1789, ch. 20, § 35, 1 Stat. 92-93	7
	18 U.S.C. 371	2
	18 U.S.C. 1591(a)	2
	18 U.S.C. 1591(b)(2)	2
	18 U.S.C. 2255 (2006)	12
	18 U.S.C. 2423(a)	
	28 U.S.C. 547	
	Sup. Ct. R. 10	

jcsheppard.com

V

Miscellaneous:	Page
U.S. Dep't of Justice, Justice Manual (Feb. 2018)	5, 10
Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law:	
The Interpretation of Legal Texts (2012)	10

In the Supreme Court of the United States

No. 24-1073 Ghislaine Maxwell, petitioner $\emph{v}.$

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

ON PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATES IN OPPOSITION

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinion of the court of appeals (Pet. App. 1a-23a) is reported at 118 F.4th 256. The order of the district court (Pet. App. 52a-91a) is reported at 534 F. Supp. 3d 299.

JURISDICTION

The judgment of the court of appeals was entered on September 17, 2024. A petition for rehearing was denied on November 25, 2024 (Pet. App. 92a). On January 21, 2025, Justice Sotomayor extended the time within which to file a petition for a writ of certiorari to and including April 10, 2025, and the petition was filed on that date. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. 1254(1).

STATEMENT

Following a jury trial in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, petitioner was convicted on one count of conspiring to transport minors with intent to engage in criminal sexual activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 371; one count of transporting a minor with intent to engage in criminal sexual activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 2423(a); and one count of sex trafficking of a minor, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1591(a) and (b)(2). Pet. App. 3a, 39a-40a. The district court sentenced petitioner to 240 months of imprisonment, to be followed by five years of supervised release. *Id.* at 41a-42a. The court of appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 1a-23a.

1. From about 1994 to 2004, petitioner "coordinated, facilitated, and contributed to" the multimillionaire financier Jeffrey Epstein's sexual abuse of numerous young women and underage girls. Pet. App. 4a. The abuse followed a pattern. Petitioner and Epstein would identify vulnerable girls living under difficult circumstances; isolate them from their friends and families, gaining their trust by giving them gifts and pretending to be their friends; normalize the discussion of sexual topics and sexual touching with the girls; and then "transition[] to sexual abuse, often through the pretext of [a girl] giving Epstein a massage." Gov't C.A. Br. 5; see Pet. App. 4a, 94a. Petitioner and Epstein paid victims large amounts of cash to provide Epstein with sexualized massages, and after a victim had begun giving massages, they would offer her additional money to recruit other girls. Gov't C.A. Br. 5-6.

Petitioner and Epstein carried on those activities at, among other locations, Epstein's residences in Palm Beach, Florida, and New York City. See Gov't C.A. Br.

4-12. In 2005, the parents of a 14-year-old girl complained to the Palm Beach police after learning that Epstein had paid their daughter for a massage. Pet. App. 94a. The following year, a state grand jury indicted Epstein for soliciting prostitution. *Ibid.* But because the local police "were dissatisfied with the State Attorney's handling of the case and believed that the state grand jury's charge did not address the totality of Epstein's conduct, they referred the matter to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) in West Palm Beach." *Ibid.*

The U.S. Attorney's Office for the Southern District of Florida (Florida USAO) worked with the FBI "to develop a federal case against Epstein." Pet. App. 94a. "[I]n the course of the investigation, they discovered additional victims." *Ibid.* An Assistant U.S. Attorney drafted a 60-count indictment against Epstein and a "lengthy memorandum summarizing the evidence" against him. *Id.* at 94a-95a. In 2007, however, the Florida USAO entered into a written nonprosecution agreement (NPA) with Epstein. *Id.* at 5a, 24a-38a.

The NPA began by describing the state and federal investigations into Epstein's conduct and the potential federal charges that the investigation by the Florida USAO and FBI supported. Pet. App. 24a-25a. The agreement noted that Epstein sought "to resolve globally his state and federal criminal liability." *Id.* at 25a. It then provided:

[O]n the authority of R. Alexander Acosta, United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, prosecution in this District for [the federal] offenses shall be deferred in favor of prosecution by the State of Florida, provided that Epstein abides by the following conditions and the requirements of this Agreement set forth below.

Id. at 26a.

The NPA further specified that, if Epstein timely fulfilled all the terms and conditions of the agreement, no prosecution against him would "be instituted in this District." Pet. App. 26a. The NPA then listed 13 terms, which principally required Epstein to plead guilty to two state offenses—soliciting prostitution and soliciting minors to engage in prostitution—and agree to a sentence of 18 months of imprisonment. *Id.* at 27a-30a. A later provision stated that if Epstein "successfully fulfills all of the terms and conditions of this agreement, the United States also agrees that it will not institute any criminal char[g]es against any potential co-conspirators of Epstein, including but not limited to" four of Epstein's assistants (none of whom was petitioner). *Id.* at 31a; see *id.* at 123a-124a; C.A. App. 178.

Such a coconspirators clause was "highly unusual," Pet. App. 125a, and "appears to have been added 'with little discussion or consideration by the prosecutors," id. at 55a (citation omitted). During a later investigation into the Florida USAO's handling of the Epstein matter, the Assistant U.S. Attorney who handled the case told the Department of Justice (DOJ) Office of Professional Responsibility that she "did not consider the possibility that Epstein might be trying to protect" anyone other than the four named assistants. Id. at 110a; see id. at 125a-126a. And other USAO attorneys suggested that the coconspirators clause was "meant to protect named co-conspirators who were also victims" of Epstein. Id. at 125a.

The coconspirators clause is not the only clause that refers to "the United States"; instead, the NPA refers variously to the "the United States Attorney," "the United States Attorney's Office," and "the United

States." Pet. App. 24a-38a. For example, the NPA provides for "the United States Attorney" to send notice to Epstein if he "should determine, based on reliable evidence," that Epstein has violated the agreement, and specifies that the notice should be "provided * * * within 60 days of the United States learning of facts which may provide a basis for a determination of a breach." *Id.* at 26a.

DOJ policy provided at that time—and similarly provides today—that "[n]o district or division shall make any agreement, including any agreement not to prosecute, which purports to bind any other district(s) or division without the express written approval of the United States Attorney(s) in each affected district and/or the Assistant Attorney General of the Criminal Division." Pet. App. 10a (citation omitted); see *Justice Manual* § 9-27.641 (Feb. 2018) (current version). The NPA in Epstein's case was signed by Epstein, his counsel, and—under U.S. Attorney Acosta's name—the aforementioned Assistant U.S. Attorney. Pet. App. 36a-38a.

In accordance with the NPA, Epstein pleaded guilty to two offenses in Florida state court in 2008. Pet. App. 96a. He was incarcerated for about a year in a minimum-security state facility. *Id.* at 96a-98a. But in 2019, the USAO for the Southern District of New York (New York USAO) obtained an indictment charging Epstein with sex trafficking minors. *Id.* at 100a.

2. In 2020, a grand jury in the Southern District of New York returned an indictment charging petitioner with several offenses arising out of her scheme with Epstein. Pet. App. 52a. A second superseding and ultimately operative indictment charged petitioner with six offenses related to facilitating sexual activity by minors and two counts of perjury. C.A. App. 114-135.

Petitioner moved to dismiss the indictment, arguing that the coconspirators clause of Epstein's NPA, see p. 4, *supra*, barred her prosecution because she was charged as Epstein's coconspirator. Pet. App. 55a. The district court denied the motion, finding that the NPA bound only the Florida USAO. *Id.* at 56a-58a. The court further found that most of the charged offenses would have fallen outside the scope of the NPA even if it had applied to the New York USAO. See *id.* at 59a-60a.¹

Petitioner was tried on the nonperjury counts in 2021, Gov't C.A. Br. 2, and the jury found her guilty on five counts, Pet. App. 39a. The district court entered judgment on three of those counts, dismissed two on multiplicity grounds, and sentenced petitioner to 240 months of imprisonment. *Id.* at 39a-41a.

3. The court of appeals affirmed. Pet. App. 1a-23a. It rejected, among other claims, petitioner's contention that Epstein's NPA barred her prosecution. *Id.* at 8a-12a. The court cited circuit precedent for the proposition that a "plea agreement binds only the office of the United States Attorney for the district in which the plea is entered unless it affirmatively appears that the agreement contemplates a broader restriction." *Id.* at 8a (quoting *United States* v. *Annabi*, 771 F.2d 670, 672 (2d Cir. 1985) (per curiam)). And here, the court found, "[n]o-thing in the text of the NPA or its negotiation history suggests that the NPA precluded USAO-SDNY from prosecuting Maxwell" for the charged offenses. *Id.* at 12a.

¹ The district court did not address whether the two counts that were added between the first and second superseding indictments would have fallen within the scope of the NPA. See D. Ct. Doc. 317, at 2-5 (Aug. 13, 2021).

The court of appeals observed that "[t]he only language in the NPA that speaks to the agreement's scope is limiting language" referring specifically to the Southern District of Florida. Pet. App. 10a; see *id.* at 9a-10a & n.13 (quoting language in the NPA protecting Epstein from charges "*in this District*"). The court also found no indication that either the Southern District of New York or the Criminal Division had reviewed and approved the NPA, as DOJ policy would have required if the NPA applied to other districts. See *id.* at 10a. And the court recognized that, from the inception of the office in the Judiciary Act of 1789, ch. 20, § 35, 1 Stat. 92-93, a U.S. Attorney's authority had always been "cabined to their specific district unless otherwise directed." Pet. App. 12a; see *id.* at 11a-12a & n.18.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner renews her contention (Pet. 12-18) that Epstein's nonprosecution agreement with the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of Florida barred petitioner's prosecution by the U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York. That contention is incorrect, and petitioner does not show that it would succeed in any court of appeals. This case would also be an unsuitable vehicle for addressing the matters raised in the petition for a writ of certiorari. This Court has previously denied certiorari in a case raising a similar claim. See *Prisco* v. *United States*, 562 U.S. 1290 (2011) (No. 10-7895). It should follow the same course here.

- 1. The court of appeals correctly held that Epstein's NPA did not bar petitioner's prosecution. Pet. App. 8a-12a.
- a. Petitioner asserts (Pet. 1) that prosecution for one of her three counts of conviction was barred by a provision of Epstein's NPA stating, in relevant part, that "the